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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

Quarterly report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 193
For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2013

or

O Transition report pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) éthe Securities Exchange Act of 193

For the transition period from to

Commission File Number 001-31895

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Nevada 84-1018684
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

5215 W. Laurel Street, Tampa, Florida 33607

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

(813) 876-1776

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

(Former name, former address and former fiscal yearif changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@s filed all reports required to be filed by Seweti3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastia@s. YES NO O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lsstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥alb site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRide 405 of Regulation S-T during the precedifgribnths (or for shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post suels¥il Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, maccelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See definition of “large accelerated fileaccelerated filer” and “smaller reporting conmgd in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act
(Check one).

Large accelerated file O Accelerated filer

Non-accelerated filer [ (Do not check if a smaller Reporting compa Smaller reporting compan O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsfell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act): YesO No
The number of outstanding shares of the regissa@wmmon Stock, $.0001 par value, as of July 2532@as 79,625,966.
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ASSETS

CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel

Restricted cas

Accounts receivable, n

Inventory

Other current asse

Total current asse

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Equipment and office fixture
Building and lanc

Accumulated depreciatic

Total property and equipme
NON-CURRENT ASSET¢

Inventory

Other norcurrent asset
Total other asse

Total asset

PART I: FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS DEFICIT

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and ott
Deferred revenu
Derivative liabilities
Mortgage and loans payat
Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Mortgage and loans payat

Deferred income from revenue participation ric

Total lon¢-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Redeemable Series G Convertible Preferred <

STOCKHOLDER¢ DEFICIT
Preferred stock:

outstanding

Preferred stock series D convertible—$.0001 pawe;al 34,800 and 448,800 shares authorized,
respectively; 32,400 and 206,400 issued and outstgnrespectivel
Common stock — $.0001 par value; 150,000,000 slzarmrized; 79,625,966 and 75,416,203

$.0001 par value; 9,675,200 an@l192B0 shares authorized, respectively; nor

issued and outstanding, respectiv

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder deficit before no-controlling interes

Non-controlling interes
Total stockholder deficit

Total liabilities and stockholde’ deficit

(Unaudited)
June 30,
2013

$ 10,337,61
185,21
300,58
326,26!

2,483,22.
13,632,90

20,156,63
4,718,86:

(15,941,81)
8,933,67

5,362,99!
1,269,38
6,632,38!
$ 29,198.96

$ 5,319,45
2,774,94.
2,835,52.
4,020,01

14,667,70
29,617,63

555,38t
4,643,75!
5,199,13
34,816,77

3

7,96:
180,401,95
(185,774,22)
(5,364,30)

(253,500

(5,617,80)
$ 29,198,06

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.

3

December 31
2012

$ 10,096,41
276,90t
2,101,94
418,92t
874,11!

13,768,30

16,781,67
4,708,09

(15,038,81)
6,450,95

5,574,84
1,102,73
6,677,57.
$ 26,896.82

$ 1,948,55
14,050,84
2,835,52.
5,356,20:
14,809,73
39,000,85

4,010,94
4,643,75
8,654,69

47,655,55

21

7,54
144,446,57

(165,212,86)
(20,758,72)

(20,758,72)
§ 2689682
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS - Unaudited

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

REVENUE

Artifact sales and othe $ 22757 $ 133,25¢ $ 1,030,64 $ 187,40

Exhibit 20,691 75,00( 80,69: 100,00(

Expedition 5,48( 1,218,37 5,48( 4,038,97

Total revenus 253,74! 1,426,63 1,116,81 4,326,38
OPERATING EXPENSE:!

Cost of sale— artifacts and othe 95,08¢ 89,89: 240,78 124,08:

Marketing, general and administrati 2,928,571 2,483,001 5,719,89. 4,839,91

Operations and resear 9,511,11; 9,554,69; 15,244,34 14,706,39

Total operating expens 12,534,76 12,127,58 21,205,02 19,670,39
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATION: (12,281,02) (10,700,95) (20,088,20)  (15,344,01)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE

Interest incom 56 69¢ 2,75¢ 23,13¢

Interest expens (918,486 (1,679,87) (1,989,54) (2,665,200

Change in derivative liabilities fair valt 1,998,59! (3,212,90) 1,336,18! (3,089,83)

Other 1,37¢ 2,67 24,68’ 3,75¢

Total other income (expens 1,081,54! (4,889,39) (625,91() (5,728,13)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXE: (11,199,47)  (15,590,35) (20,714,11)  (21,072,14)

Income tax benefit (provisiot 50,00( — (100,74 —
NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE NO-CONTROLLING INTEREST (11,149,47)  (15,590,35) (20,814,85)  (21,072,14)

Non-controlling interes 253,50( — 253,50( —
NET INCOME (LOSS) $(10,895,97) $(15,590,35) $(20,561,35) $(21,072,14)
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHAR

Basic and diluted (See NOTE $ (149 $ (2) $ (.26) % (.29)
Weighted average number of common shares outsig

Basic and dilutel 79,345,03 73,234,69 78,350,23 73,199,91

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - Unaudited

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss before ne-controlling interes

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (usg@perating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic

Investment in consolidated ent

Loan fee amortizatio

Change in derivatives liabilities fair vali

Note payable interest accreti

Senior debt interest settled with common st
Foreign currency translatic

Sharebased compensatic

(Increase) decrease

Restricted cas

Accounts receivabl

Inventory

Other asset

Increase (decrease)

Accounts payabl

Accrued expenses and ott

NET CASH (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property and equipm

NET CASH (USED) BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common st

Proceeds from sale of subsidiary st

Proceeds from issuance loan pay:

Broker commissions and fees on capital ra
Repayment of mortgage and loans pay:
Dividends

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI
CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOL

CASH AT END OF PERIOL

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Interest paic

Income taxes pai

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:

Accrued compensation paid by equity instrum
Equipment purchased with financi

Debt repayment with common sha

Series G Preferred Stock dividend declara

Six Months Ended

June 30,
2013

June 30,
2012

$(20,814,85)

$(21,072,14)

904,69 798,17
(301,09) —
121,90¢ 212,00
(1,336,18) 3,089,83;
1,173,92: 1,755,34:
275,01 —
1,30: —
1,240,77: 918,08t
91,68¢ 94,55t
1,698,69 251,70
304,50 92,88¢
(1,785,42) (3,285,46)
3,362,53! 4,350,73
(11,443,54) (332,60
(26,506,08) (13,126,88)
(2,628,941 (597,029
(2,628,94)) (597,029
4,885,65! 44,62t
25,000,00 —
— 9,994,48;

— (400,001
(509,42 (341,271
— (10,000
29,376,22 9,287,83;
241,20 (4,436,07)
10,096,41 7,971,79.
$10,337,61  $ 3,535,72
$ 20613 $ 701,10
$ — $ —
$ 16574t $ 34752
$ 756,79 $ 588,49
$ 469565  $ —
$ — $  10,00(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE A — BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The accompanying unaudited consolidated finant@#éments of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. amk&liaries (the “Company,”

“Odyssey,” “us,” “we” or “our”) have been prepar#daccordance with the rules and regulations of3beurities and Exchange Commission
and the instructions to Form 10-Q and, therefooenat include all information and footnotes normaticluded in financial statements
prepared in accordance with generally accepteduaticy principles. These interim consolidated ficiahstatements should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statatseand notes included in the Company’s Annual RepoForm 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2012.

In the opinion of management, these financial statgs reflect all adjustments, including normalreing adjustments, necessary for a
fair presentation of the financial position as wfid 30, 2013, and the results of operations arfu ftass for the interim periods presented.
Operating results for the three-month period enhlete 30, 2013, are not necessarily indicative ®fésults that may be expected for the full
year.

NOTE B — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This summary of significant accounting policieslod Company is presented to assist in understamdin§nancial statements. The
financial statements and notes are representatfdihe Company’s management, who are responsibliaéir integrity and objectivity, and
have prepared them in accordance with our custoa@rgunting practices.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of the Company and its direct and indiwdublly owned subsidiaries,
Odyssey Marine Services, Inc., OVH, Inc., OdyssetriBver, Inc., Odyssey Marine Entertainment, I@dyssey Marine Enterprises, Ltd.,
Odyssey Marine Management, Ltd., Oceanica Mariner&jons, S.R.L., and majority interest in Oceameasources, S.R.L. and
Exploraciones Oceanicas, S. De R.L. De C.V. Eqguitgstments in which we exercise significant inflae but do not control and are not the
primary beneficiary are accounted for using theitgquethod. All significant inter-company and iritampany transactions and balances
have been eliminated. The results of operatiomibatable to the non-controlling interest are prasd within equity and net income, and are
shown separately from the Company’s equity andnoetme attributable to the Company.

During the six-months ended June 2013, our whollmed subsidiary, Odyssey Marine Enterprises, Isiwld 23 million cuotas (shares)
of its position in Oceanica Resources, S.R.L. &5 #hillion. According to the Accounting Standardsd@ication (“ASC”) 810 —
Consolidation, paragraph 810-10-45-23, we have accounted feitithnsaction as an equity transaction. Therefargain or loss has been
recognized in consolidated net income or compreaterscome.

Use of Estimates

Management used estimates and assumptions in prgplaese financial statements in accordance vétiegally accepted accounting
principles. Those estimates and assumptions dffeateported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and the reported revenues and expemsasal results could vary from the estimates thate used.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable

Revenue from product sales is recognized at thet pbisale when legal title transfers. Legal titensfers when product is shipped or is
available for shipment to customers. In accordamitie Topic A.1.in SAB 13: Revenue Recognition, éxhicontractual and expedition
charter revenue is recognized ratably when reabrgtlearned as time passes throughout the coptraotl as defined by the terms of the
agreement or by applicable accounting standard$ dBbts are recorded as identified and, from tior@te, a specific reserve allowance will
be established when required. A return allowanestablished for sales which have a right of retAatounts receivable is stated net of any
recorded allowances and reserves.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash inclaste on hand and cash in banks. We also consldgghly liquid investments with a
maturity of three months or less when purchasdzbtoash equivalents.

6
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Inventory

Our inventory consists of artifacts recovered fitthie SSRepublicshipwreck, general branded merchandise and refetekaging
material. Inventoried costs of recovered artiféwtdude the costs of recovery, conservation andiaidirative costs to obtain legal title to the
artifacts. Administrative costs are generally Ieigals or insurance settlements required in ordebtain clear title. The capitalized recovery
costs include direct costs such as vessel aneédetaiuipment operations and maintenance, creweahaital labor, fuel, provisions, suppli
port fees and depreciation. Conservation costsidtecfees paid to conservators for cleaning ancepriawy the artifacts. We continually
monitor the recorded aggregate costs of the at$ifadnventory to ensure these costs do not extteedet realizable value. Historical sales,
publications or available public market data aredu® assess market value.

Packaging materials and merchandise are recordaceedge cost. We record our inventory at the lavf@ost or market.

Long-Lived Assets

Our policy is to recognize impairment losses ratato long-lived assets in accordance with the A&sic for Property, Plant and
Equipment. Decisions are based on several fadtmisiding, but not limited to, management’s plaosfiiture operations, recent operating
results and projected cash flows.

Comprehensive Income

Securities with a maturity greater than three meffithm purchase date are deemed available-forasalecarried at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on these securitiesxateded from earnings and reported as a sepewatponent of stockholders’ equity. At
June 30, 2013, we did not own securities with aunitgtgreater than three months.

Property and Equipment and Depreciation

Property and equipment is stated at historical. dspreciation is provided using the straight-linethod at rates based on the assets’
estimated useful lives, which are normally betwdeae and ten years. Leasehold improvements aretiaetbover their estimated useful
lives or lease term, if shorter. Major overhaulrige(such as engines or generators) that enharecgenrd the useful life of vessel-related
assets qualify to be capitalized and depreciated the useful life or remaining life of that assetichever is shorter. Certain major repair
items required by industry standards to ensuresaels seaworthiness also qualify to be capitalemed depreciated over the period of time
until the next scheduled planned major maintendoicthat item. All other repairs and maintenanae arcounted for under the direct-
expensing method and are expensed when incurred.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed bidufig income available to common stockholders ywheighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. In penlden the Company generates income, the Compéeulates basic earnings per share
using the two-class method pursuant to ASC Réfhings Per Sharelhe two-class method was required effective withifisuance of the
Senior Convertible Note disclosed in Note H becahsenote qualifies as a participating securityirgj the holder the right to receive
dividends should dividends be declared on commackstUnder the two-class method, earnings for #r@g are allocated on a prata basi:
to the common stockholders and to the holders ofv€dible Notes based on the weighted average nuaflmmmmon shares outstanding and
number of shares that could be converted. The Coyngaes not use the two-class method in periodsithgenerates a loss as the holder of
the Convertible Notes do not participate in losses.

Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution thatudéboccur if dilutive securities and other contgatti issue Common Stock were
exercised or converted into Common Stock or reduitéhe issuance of Common Stock that then sharedr earnings. We use the treasury
stock method to compute potential common shares &tock options and warrants and the if-convertethod to compute potential common
shares from Preferred Stock, Convertible Notestloeroconvertible securities. As it relates solelytte Senior Convertible Note, for diluted
earnings per share, the Company uses the morévdibftthe if-converted method or two-class methathen a net loss occurs, potential
common shares have an anti-dilutive effect on egmper share and such shares are excluded frobilthhed EPS calculation.

At June 30, 2013 and 2012, weighted average conghares outstanding year-to-date were 78,350,236 3/199,914, respectively.
For the periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, ichwiet losses occurred, all potential common sharere excluded from diluted EPS
because the effect of including such shares woaldrii-dilutive.
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The potential common shares in the following talégsesent potential common shares calculated tisengyeasury stock method from
outstanding options, stock awards and warrantsibat excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Average market price during the period $ 314 $ 3.0t $ 3.1¢ $ 3.11
In the money potential common shares from options

excluded 299,53¢ 213,31: 333,06: 239,11¢
In the money potential common shares from warrants

excluded 493,32 1,045,86! 525,09: 1,119,80:

Potential common shares from out-of-the-money otiand warrants were also excluded from the cortipataf diluted EPS because
calculation of the associated potential commoneshhas an anti-dilutive effect on EPS. The follayable lists options and warrants that
were excluded from diluted EPS:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2013 2012
Out of the money options and warrants exclut
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.40 hare 100,00( 100,00( 100,00( 100,00(
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.43 hare 40,00( — 40,00( —
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.50 hare 345,00( 245,00( 345,00( 245,00(
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.51 hare 959,50( 984,67( 959,50( 984,67(
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.53 ere 191,70( 211,90( 191,70( 211,90(
Stock options with an exercise price of $3.90 hare 20,00( — 20,00( —
Stock options with an exercise price of $4.00 heare 52,50( 52,50( 52,50( 52,50(
Stock options with an exercise price of $5.00 e 100,00( 300,00( 100,00( 300,00t
Stock options with an exercise price of $7.00 hare 100,00( 100,00( 100,00( 100,00(
Warrants with an exercise price of $3.60 per s 1,562,50! 1,562,50 1,562,50! 1,562,50!
Warrants with an exercise price of $5.25 per s — 100,00( — 100,00(
Total ant-dilutive warrants and options excluded from E 3,471,200 3,656,571 3,471,200  3,656,57!

Potential common shares from outstanding Converttseferred Stock calculated on an if-convertedshbe@s/ing an anti-dilutive effect
on diluted earnings per share were excluded froterpial common shares as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012

Potential common shares from Convertible Prefeg8tedk excluded from EPS 32,40C 346,40( 32,40( 346,40(

The weighted average equivalent common sharesnglat our unvested restricted stock awards thaewzcluded from potential
common shares in the earning per share calculdtierto having an anti-dilutive effect are:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Potential common shares from unvested restricttkstwards excluded from
EPS 512,92¢ 467,16« 509,23t 463,23¢
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The following is a reconciliation of the numeratarsed denominators used in computing basic andedilogt income per share:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30,
2013 2012 2013 2012
Net income (loss $(10,895,97)  $(15,590,35) $(20,561,35) $(21,072,14)
Cumulative dividends on Series G Preferred S — (5,000 — (15,000

Numerator, basic and diluted net income (loss)lalhs tc
stockholder $(10,895,97)  $(15,595,35) $(20,561,35) $(21,087,14)

Denominator
Shares used in computati— basic:

Weighted average common shares outstan 79,345,03 73,234,69 78,350,23 73,199,91
Shares used in computati- diluted:
Weighted average common shares outstan 79,345,03 73,234,69 78,350,23 73,199,91

Dilutive effect of potential common shares
outstanding — — — —

Shares used in computing diluted net income pees 79,345,03 73,234,69 78,350,23 73,199,91
Net income (loss) per she— basic $ (0.1 % 0.2)) % (0.2¢) $ (0.29)
Net income (loss) per she- diluted $ 019 % (02) % (0.2¢) % (0.29

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using an asseiabitity approach that requires the recognitiordeferred tax assets and liabilities for
the expected future tax consequences attributalldferences between financial statement carrgimgunts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases. A valuation all@eaa provided when it is more likely than not thaime portion or the entire deferred tax
asset will not be realized.

Stock-based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation is recorded in acnoedaith the guidance in the ASC topic for Stocks®&hCompensation (See NOTE
.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments consist of cash, evidenaawfership in an entity, and contracts that botinfj)ose on one entity a contractual
obligation to deliver cash or another financiakinsent to a second entity, or to exchange otmamitial instruments on potentially
unfavorable terms with the second entity, andcfinveys to that second entity a contractual rightd receive cash or another financial
instrument from the first entity, or (b) to exchangther financial instruments on potentially fadmeaterms with the first entity. Accordingly,
our financial instruments consist of cash and eaghivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payabtteyed liabilities, derivative financial
instruments, mortgage and loans payable, and reatderpreferred stock. We carry cash and cash dguigaaccounts payable and accrued
liabilities, and mortgage and loans payable agfhygroximate fair market value, and, accordinglgsthestimates are not necessarily indici
of the amounts that we could realize in a curreatket exchange. We carry derivative financial instents at fair value as is required under
current accounting standards. We carry redeemaibferped stock at historical cost and accrete gagryalues to estimated redemption va
over the term of the financial instrument.

Derivative financial instruments consist of finaaldnstruments or other contracts that containtional amount and one or more
underlying variables (e.g., interest rate, secypitge or other variable), require no initial netéstment and permit net settlement. Derivative
financial instruments may be free-standing or erdieddn other financial instruments. Further, darixafinancial instruments are initially,
and subsequently, measured at fair value and redasl liabilities or, in rare instances, assete (8@TE L for additional information). We
generally do not use derivative financial instrutsen hedge exposures to cash-flow, market ordoreurrency risks. However, we have
entered into certain other financial instrumentd eontracts, such as our sale and issuance ofredde preferred stock and freestanding
warrants during October 2010 with features thatedteer (i) not afforded equity classification) @mbody risks not clearly and closely rele
to host contracts, or (iii) may be net-cash settigdhe counterparty. As required by ASC 81Berivatives and Hedgingthese instruments
are required to be carried as derivative liab#itiat fair value, in our financial statements veittanges in fair value reflected in our income.

9
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Fair Value Hierarchy
The three levels of inputs that may be used to oredsir value are as follows:

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identical aseetiabilities.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssouated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggoted prices in markets with
insufficient volume or infrequent transactions glestive markets), or model-derived valuations friclv all significant inputs are observable
or can be derived principally from or corroborateith observable market data for substantially thietérm of the assets or liabilities. Level 2
inputs also include non-binding market consensiceptthat can be corroborated with observable naiki®, as well as quoted prices that
were adjusted for security-specific restrictions.

Level 3. Unobservable inputs to the valuation methodologysignificant to the measurement of the fair valfiassets or liabilities.
Level 3 inputs also include non-binding market @msais prices or non-binding broker quotes that ee=wnable to corroborate with
observable market data.

Redeemable Preferred Stock

Redeemable preferred stock (and, if ever, any attdemable financial instrument we may enter iig@)itially evaluated for possible
classification as a liability in instances wherdamption is certain to occur pursuant to ASC 4&listinguishing Liabilities from Equity
Redeemable preferred stock classified as a lighdlitecorded and carried at fair value. Redeemaitderred stock that does not, in its
entirety, require liability classification is evahed for embedded features that may require bifiarcand separate classification as derivative
liabilities. In all instances, the classificatiohtbe redeemable preferred stock host contractdbes not require liability classification is
evaluated for equity classification or mezzanirassification based upon the nature of the redemp¢atures. Generally, mandatory
redemption requirements or any feature that coedgiire cash redemption for matters not within antl, irrespective of probability of the
event occurring, requires classification outsidstotkholders’ equity. Redeemable preferred stbakits recorded in the mezzanine section is
accreted to its redemption value through chargesottkholders’ equity when redemption is probalsieg the effective interest method. See
NOTE N for further disclosures about our redeemabééerred stock

Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events for recogmitidisclosure through the date this Form 10-Qlésl fwith the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

NOTE C — RESTRICTED CASH

As required by the original mortgage loan entergd with Fifth Third Bank (the “Bankpn July 11, 2008 (see NOTE H), $500,000
deposited into an additional interest-bearing antfnam which principal and interest payments assls On each anniversary of the
mortgage, we are to deposit into the account aruatrsufficient to ensure a balance of $500,00(pforcipal and interest payments for the
subsequent year of the mortgage. This mortgagertadares during July 2013, at which point in timeas refinanced. The balance in this
restricted cash account is held as additional ol by the Bank and is not available for operaticAny funds remaining in this account at
the end of the new mortgage term will be returrethe Company. The balance in this account at 30n2013, was $185,217. Subsequent to
June 30, 2013, we renewed the mortgage with thé& Béaich modified the terms of the restricted castoaint to require us to replenish the
account up to $400,000 each year.

NOTE D — INVENTORY
Our inventory consisted of the following:

December 31

June 30,
2013 2012
Artifacts $5,557,02! $5,743,91!
Packaging 105,96! 131,64:
Merchandise 397,60t 485,76
Merchandise resen (371,33) (367,55
Total inventory $5,689,26. $5,993,76

Of these amounts, $5,362,999 and $5,574,841 assifital as non-current as of June 30, 2013 andrbleee31, 2012, respectively.
10
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NOTE E — INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
Neptune Minerals, Inc.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, westede$500,000 for a 25% interest (five membershitsjin SMM Project, LLC
(“*SMM”) to pursue opportunities in the exploratiohdeep-ocean gold and copper deposits. SMM puechasnajority interest in Bluewater
Metals Pty, Ltd. (“Bluewater”), an Australian conmyawith licenses for mineral exploration of appmsztely 150,000 square kilometers of
ocean floor in territorial waters controlled by falifferent countries in the South Pacific. In Af#010, SMM was acquired by Dorado Ocean
Resources, Ltd. (“DOR”) through a share exchandgehat time, DOR also acquired the remaining irgeie Bluewater. We were issued 450
DOR shares in exchange for our surrendered unB$IM. We also acquired an additional 1,200 shafé&Q@R valued at $2,000,000 that
resulted in a 41.25% ownership of DOR. Under tieseof the Share Subscription Agreement, we haaphien to pay for this investment in
cash, provide marine services to DOR over a thesg-geriod commencing April 2010 or exercise ountiaxtual right to offset against the
$2,000,000 marine services accounts receivable ¢oved. During 2011, we exercised our contractighitrand offset these two amounts. The
focus of DOR was on the exploration and monetizatibgold- and copper-rich Seafloor Massive Sulfft&\VS”) deposits.

During 2011, we were engaged by Neptune Minerats, 'NMI”) and its affiliates to perform marinerséces relating to deep-sea
mining. The agreements provided for payments i easl shares of Class B non-voting common sto®\f. In 2011, we earned 2,066,600
shares of the Class B newting common stock from these engagements. Duhisgsame period, NMI completed a share exchante DOR
shareholders whereby each one outstanding sh&@®Bfwas exchanged for 1,000 shares of NMI ClassiBvoting common stock. We
received 1,650,000 shares of NMI Class B non-votimgmon stock for our 1,650 DOR shares pursuatitdshare exchange. In connection
with this share exchange, NMI executed an assigharahassumption agreement, whereby NMI assum&@23&75 of the outstanding debt
DOR owed to us. Additionally in 2011, we executedklt conversion agreement with NMI, whereby weveoted $2,500,000 of the debt
owed to us for 2,500,000 shares of NMI Class B woting common stock. At June 30, 2013, we havetaingre position in NMI of
6,216,600 shares, which represents an approxin@teddvnership before any further dilution of the N&tbck.

At June 30, 2013, our share of unrecognized DORIjNd4ses is $7.2 million. We have not recognizesl accumulated $7.2 million in
our income statement because these losses excegnv@stment in DOR (NMI). Based on the NMI and D@®&nsaction described above,
believe it is appropriate to allocate this losgyfarward to any incremental investment that maydmognized on our balance sheet in NMI.
The aforementioned loss carryforward is based or’§ldst audited financial statements as of June&28Q@2 and is the best financial
information available to us currently. With NMI Ipgi involved in the capital intensive deep-sea ngirand exploration industry as well as not
having revenue, we believe their cumulative losgHeir fiscal year end June 30, 2013 will be sabanillion dollars.

Chatham Rock Phosphate, Ltd.

During the period ended June 30, 2012, we perforteeg-sea mining exploratory services for ChathackRPhosphate, Ltd. (“CRP”)
valued at $1,680,000. As payment for these servieB® issued 9,320,348 of ordinary shares to us.shlares currently represent a 6.9%
equity stake in CRP. With CRP being on the New &maéIStock Exchange and guidance per ASC B2t and Equity Securitieggarding
readily determinable fair value, we believe it vegpropriate to not recognize this amount as art asses revenue during that period.

NOTE F — INCOME TAXES

As of June 30, 2013, the Company had consolidaiezhie tax net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwafdsfederal tax purposes of
approximately $129 million. The federal NOL carmy@rds from 1998 forward will expire in various yedeginning in 2018 and ending
through the year 2032. From 2018 through 2022,@gmrately $3.2 million of the NOL will expire, fror@023 through 2027, approximately
$59.9 million of the NOL will expire, and from 2028rough 2032, approximately $65.9 million of th©Nwill expire.

As of June 30, 2013 we utilized $4.3 million of fleeleral NOL carryforwards for taxable income réisgl from our sale of partial
ownership interest in a subsidiary. For Alternafid@imum Tax (AMT) purposes, a limitation is impabsen the allowable amount of the
NOL carryforward, this limitation resulted in a cent federal tax expense. The AMT rate appliedibz

The components of the provision for income tax @iigs) are attributable to continuing operation$ai®ws:

June 30, 201 June 30, 201 June 30, 201
Current
Federa $ 85,74: $ — $ —
State 15,00( — —
$ 100,74 $  — $ —
Deferred
Federa $ — $ — $ —
State — — —
$ 100,74 $  — $ —
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effetth@temporary differences between the carryinguams of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts ugethfome tax purposes. Significant componentfi@f@ompany’s deferred tax assets and
liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss and tax credit carryforwe $ 45,685,74
Capital loss carryforwar 395,84«
Accrued expense 111,18:
Deferred revenu 1,020,24
Reserve for accounts receiva 2,146,68!
Reserve for inventor 133,60t
Star-up costs 110,11¢
Excess of book over tax depreciat 1,359,21
Stock option and restricted stock award exp 1,659,42
Investment in unconsolidated ent 3,800,69
Less: valuation allowanc (55,726,70)

$ 696,05

Deferred tax liability:
Property and equipment ba $ 71,22¢
Prepaid expenst 624,82!
$ 696,05
$

Net deferred tax ass

As reflected above, we have recorded a net deféawedsset of $0 at June 30, 2013. As requiredtidydtcounting for Income Taxes
topic in the ASC, we have evaluated whether it igerlikely than not that the deferred tax asselshgirealized. Based on the available
evidence, we have concluded that it is more liklen not that those assets would not be realizétbui the recovery and rights of ownership
or salvage rights of high-value shipwrecks or ofoems of taxable income, thus a valuation alloveahas been recorded as of June 30, 2013

The decrease in the valuation allowance as of 30n2013 is due to the utilization of $4.3 milliohour net operating loss
carryforward.

The change in the valuation allowance is as follows

June 30, 201 $55,726,70
December 31, 201 57,901,52
Change in valuation allowan: $ (2,174,82)

Income taxes for the six-month periods ended JOn@@&L3 and 2012 differ from the amounts computedgplying the effective
federal income tax rate of 34.0% to income (logfpte income taxes as a result of the following:

June 30, June 30,
2013 2012

Expected (benefit) $(6,956,60) $(7,164,53)
U.S. income tax expense at the AMT 20% | 100,74. —
State income taxes net of federal bent 97,48¢ (191,879
Nondeductible expen: 12,89¢ 8,05(
Stock options and restricted stock awe 208,89( 240,26!
Gain on sale of subsidiary sto 8,454,141 —
Derivatives (13,72 1,667,46!
Change in valuation allowan: (2,174,82) 5,203,81.
Effects of:
Change in apportionment estimi 400,06 —
Change in net operating loss estin 2,24( 610,86:.
Change in capital loss carryover estirr — (374,05)
Other, ne (30,579 —

$ 100,74. $ —
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During the six-month periods ended June 30, 20832812, the Company recognized certain tax berefids(liabilities), prior to any
valuation allowances, related to stock option plartsie amounts of $221,060 and $248,038, respadgtilf we did not have a full valuation
allowance, such benefits would be recorded as@ease to the deferred tax asset and increaselitioaal paid in capital.

We have not recognized a material adjustment itidibdity for unrecognized tax benefits and hawe recorded any provisions for
accrued interest and penalties related to uncedaipositions.

The earliest tax year still subject to examinatigra major taxing jurisdiction is 2009.

NOTE G — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Legal Proceedings

On April 16, 2012, the Kingdom of Spain filed a mootwith the district court for an award of attoyrsefees and costs related to the “
Black Swar” case. On November 15, 2012, the Magistrate Juelgemmended to the District Judge that Spain redees and costs related
only to the period from February 10, 2012 througaréh 20, 2012 which amounts to approximately $13@,0Ve are opposing the motion
vigorously and have submitted substantial argumengposition. However, we cannot predict the €suuling at this time.

The Company may be subject to a variety of oth&int and suits that arise from time to time indhginary course of business.
Management is currently not aware of any claimsuits that will have a material adverse impacttsiiinancial position or its results of
operations.

Trends and Uncertainties

Our current 2013 business plan estimates positiga 8ow from operating and financing activitiefieTplan contains assumptions wi
include that several of our planned projects aneléa through project recoveries (Gairsoppa) andrdthancings, syndications or other
partnership opportunities. The 2013 business ptaereses include a 90-day charter agreement whiotxeeuted with a company to provide
a ship and equipment to conduct recovery operatortheGairsoppaandMantolaprojects similar to the work performed in 2012 whemn
monetized over $41 million of silver. Based upom current expectations, we believe our cash pasititl be sufficient to fund operating
cash flows throughout the rest of 2013 taking extoount our beginning cash balance, current cashdkpectations and revenues from
multiple sources, including projected sales froookeries, syndicated projects and other poteritiahting opportunities. We renewed our
term and mortgage loans with Fifth Third Bank ily2013. We also borrowed $10 million in July 2Gt@m Fifth Third Bank which was
secured by Gairsoppa project proceeds based upaedknt recovery. We have experienced severad péaret losses resulting in a
stockholders’ deficit. Our capacity to generateinebme in future periods is dependent upon oucesgin recovering and monetizing
shipwrecks, realizing capital gains from sale eéiast in mineral exploration entities, generatmme from shipwreck or mineral
exploration charters or generating income from iofiiejects. If cash flow is not sufficient to meetr projected business plan requirements,
we will be required to raise additional capitakartail expenses. While we have been successfaismg the necessary funds in the past,
there can be no assurance that we can continuego.d

NOTE H — MORTGAGE AND LOANS PAYABLE
The Company’s consolidated debt consisted of theviing at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

June 30, December 31

2013 2012
Term loan $ 5,000,001 $ 5,000,001
Face value $10,000,000, 8% Convertible Senior Ratgable 4,496,28| 8,234,36'
Face value $8,000,000, 9% Convertible Senior NatabBle 3,845,13 3,628,77!
Mortgage payabl 1,881,67. 1,957,53

$15,223,09 $18,820,68
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Term Loan

On May 4, 2011, we amended our revolving creditifgavith Fifth Third Bank (the “Bank”) to replac# with a $5 million term loan
with a maturity date of April 23, 2012. A principahyment of $2 million was due and paid prior tagést 1, 2011, with the remainder due by
maturity. This facility bore a floating interesttae one-month LIBOR rate according to the Wale8trJournal plus 500 basis points. Any
prepayments made in full or in part are withoutnpiten or penalty. A commitment fee of $250,000 wagl@t closing. Restricted cash
amounts are not required to be kept on deposia éandition to the loan renewal, we were requicedmend the Loan Agreement (mortgage
payable) for our corporate real estate facilityjalihis due to mature on July 11, 2013, whereby weswequired to pay additional principal to
meet an 80% loan-to-value (LTV) based upon an iaddpnt real estate appraisal. All additional ppatpayments have been made.

On March 30, 2012, the above term loan was ameadédncreased to $5 million with an expiration daftduly 11, 2013. This facility
bears floating interest at the one month LIBOR eateording to the Wall Street Journal plus 500%psints. Any prepayments made in full
or in part are without premium or penalty. No rieséd cash payments will need to be kept on depbsiting July 2013 this term loan was
amended with substantially the same terms thaentlyrexist. The new maturity date is July 2016giBaing January 2014, we will be
required to make semi-annual payments of $500,000.

The current amended term loan is secured by appaigly 25,000 numismatic coins recovered from t8&8publicshipwreck, which
amount will be reduced over the term by the amofiebins sold by the Company. The coins used dateodl are held by a custodian for the
security of the Bank. The borrowing base is eqodbtty percent (40%) of the eligible coin inventaalued on a rolling twelve-month
wholesale average value. The Company is requiredntply with a number of customary covenants. Tigeificant covenants included:
maintaining insurance on the inventory; ensurirggdbllateral is free from encumbrances and witlloaitconsent of the Bank, the Company
cannot merge or consolidate with or into any ottegporation or entity nor can the Company entey ammaterial debt agreement with a third
party without approval.

Mortgage Payable

On July 11, 2008, we entered into a mortgage loiéim Kifth Third Bank. Pursuant to the Loan Agreemere borrowed $2,580,000.
The loan bears interest at a variable rate equhkt@rime rate plus three-fourths of one percems®) per annum. The loan matures on
July 11, 2013, and requires monthly principal pagteén the amount of $10,750 plus accrued intefidss loan is secured by a restricted ¢
balance (See NOTE C) as well as a first mortgageunrtorporate office building. This loan contamstomary representations and
warranties, affirmative and negative covenantsdiams, and other provisions. As of June 30, 2@48,loan balance outstanding was
$1,302,000. During July 2013 this mortgage loan armgnded with substantially the same terms thaently exist. The new maturity date is
July 2016.

During May 2008, we entered into a mortgage loathéprincipal amount of $679,000 with The Bankrafmpa to purchase our
conservation lab and storage facility. This obligrmhas a monthly payment of $5,080 with a matutaie of May 14, 2015. Principal and
interest payments are payable monthly. Interest &fixed annual rate of 6.45%. This debt is sediny the related mortgaged real property.
As of June 30, 2013, the loan balance outstandemy$%79,672. The seller originally carried a seaondgage for $100,000 with interest «
monthly and $25,000 of principal due each May comeireg in May 2009. As of June 30, 2012, this deaswaid in full. The interest was at
a variable rate of 1.0% above the prime interdststated by BB&T, formerly Colonial Bank of Tampa.

Senior Convertible Notes
Initial Note

During November 2011, we entered into a securftigshase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”)amighinstitutional investor
pursuant to which we issued and sold a Senior GtibleeNote in the original principal amount of $Q0million (the “Initial Note™) and a
warrant (the “Warrant”) to purchase up to 1,302,6B8res of our common stock. Subject to the satisfaof conditions set forth in the
Purchase Agreement, we had the right to requiréntresstor to purchase an additional senior conbkertiote in the original principal amount
of up to $5.0 million on the six-month anniversafythe initial closing date (the “Additional Notehd, collectively “Notes”). Aggregate
direct finance costs amounted to $545,000 of wiigh,000 related to costs of the lender and, aceglyliwere included in the original issue
discount on the Initial Note.

The indebtedness evidenced by the Initial Notedrrerest at 8.0% percent per year (15% undewuttefanditions, if ever). Interest is
compounded monthly and payable quarterly at thénbégy of each calendar quarter. The Initial Nat@mortized with equal monthly
principal installments of $434,783 that commencedualy 8, 2012. Prepayment is not allowed. Furtter Notes may be converted into our
common stock, at the option of the holder, at &amg following issuance, with respect to the Initidte, or at any time following six months
after the date of issuance, with respect to theithdhl Note. The initial conversion price of thatlal Note was $3.74, subject to adjustment
on the six-month anniversary of the initial closthate as follows: The reset conversion price appl&to the Initial Note was to be adjusted
to the lesser of (a) the then current
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conversion price and (b) the greater of (i) $1.44 i) 110.0% of the market price of our commowockton the six-month anniversary of the
initial closing date (as applicable, the “ConvensRrice”). On May 10, 2012 (the six-month anniveysa the initial closing date), the
conversion price applicable to the Initial Note veausted to $3.17, which represented 110.0% ofrtheket price of Odyssey’s common
stock. The conversion price is also subject tostdjent for stock splits, stock dividends, recajataions, and similar transactions. We have
agreed to pay each amortization payment in shdresr&common stock, if certain conditions are npegvided, that we may, at our option,
elect to pay such amortization payments in casb.cbimversion rate applicable to any amortizatiompnt that we make in shares of our
common stock will be the lower of (a) the ConvensiRyice and (b) a price equal to 85.0% of the vaumeighted average price of our shares
of common stock for a ten-day period immediateipipto the applicable amortization date.

The Initial Note provides for redemption upon tleewrrence of an event of default. Default condgiamclude non-servicing of the debt
and certain other credit risk related conditionsefddlt conditions also include certain equity inegxevents including failures to file public
information documents, non-conversion or insuffitishare authorizations to effect conversion aildr&ato obtain and maintain an effective
registration statement covering the underlying camrshares. The remedies to the investor for evadrdefault include acceleration of
payment at 125% of the remaining face value inaieitircumstances. In the event the default rediemig not paid, the investor would have
the right to elect conversion of the note at amstéjd conversion price approximating 75% of quotagket prices. A change in control wol
also result in a redemption requirement at 125%heface value.

The Notes extend no voting rights to the investdimvever, the Notes extend participation rightdiidend payments, if any, made to
the holders of the Company’s common or other adéissock, except our Series G Preferred Stock.

The holder of the Initial Note elected to apply soafi the payments due on the principal balancéefritial Note to the Additional
Note described below. During the six months ended B0, 2013, we issued 1,731,779 shares of constachk as payment of $4,695,652
outstanding principal. The principal balance of lthigal Note at June 30, 2013 was $5,387,032.

Under the terms of the Warrant, the holder is lextito exercise the Warrant to purchase up to 108®shares of our common stock at
an initial exercise price of $4.32 per share, dythre five-year period beginning on the six-monthigersary of the initial closing date;
provided, that 434,027 shares of our common stemkable upon exercise of the Warrant could noxbecesed unless the investor purchased
the Additional Note. In accordance with the terrhthe warrant agreement, on May 10, 2012, the éseeqarice applicable to the Warrant was
adjusted to $3.60 which was the lesser of (a)likea turrent exercise price and (b) 125.0% of theketgrice of our common stock on the
six-month anniversary of the initial closing dat@e Exercise Price is also subject to adjustmanstfuck splits, stock dividends,
recapitalizations, and similar transactions. Wegaeerally prohibited from issuing shares of commatmtk upon exercise of the Warrant if
such exercise would cause us to breach our oldigmtinder the rules or regulations of the stocketasn which the common stock is traded.

In connection with the financing, we entered integistration rights agreement pursuant to whichagieed to file a registration
statement with the Securities and Exchange Comamniggiith the “SEC”) relating to the offer and shlethe investor of the shares of
common stock issuable upon conversion of the Narelsthe exercise of the Warrant. Pursuant to theeagent, we were required to file the
registration statement within six months of theiaiclosing date and to use best efforts for #mgstration statement to be declared effective
90 days thereafter (or 120 days thereafter if dggstration statement is subject to review by tREB

Additional Note

On May 10, 2012, we issued the Additional Notehi@ original principal amount of $8.0 million, arftetnumber of shares of Odyssey’s
common stock issuable upon exercise of the Wamantased to 1,562,500. The Additional Note beaterést at 9.0% per year and will
mature on the 30-month anniversary of the initiabinig date. The Additional Note amortizes in equahthly installments commencing on
the eighthmonth anniversary of the initial note and may biel lacash or Odyssey common stock. The Additidtiaie may be converted ir
Odysseys common stock, at the option of the holder, attang following six months after the date of issc@nOdyssey has a right to rede
the Additional Note. The initial conversion pricktbe Additional Note is $3.74, subject to resettlom earlier of the date the registration
statement registering the offer and sale of themmomstock issuable under the notes and the warbactsmes effective and a prospectus
contained therein shall be available for the rebglthe holder of all of the registrable securitieshe six-month anniversary of the additional
closing date. The registration statement was deglaffective on July 6, 2012, and there was na teshe conversion price of the Additional
Note.

On January 2, 2013, we entered into an agreememhémd the terms of the Additional Note. The imstaht payments due Decembe
2012, January 1, 2013 and February 1, 2013 werrréef until March 1, 2013 and the conversion poicehe Additional Note was decreased
from $3.74 to $3.17. We evaluated the amendmemipact on the accounting for the Additional Notedatordance with ASC 470-50-40-6
through 12 to determine whether extinguishment aeting was appropriate. The modification had a dlsi effect on a present value basis
of less than 10% and the reduction in the convergitce resulted in
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a change in the fair value of the embedded conweistion that was less than 10% of the carryirlgevaf the Additional Note immediately
prior to the modification. Since the amendmentrait result in a substantial modification, extinduigent accounting was not applicable. The
principal balance of the Additional Note at June 3013 was $4,149,195.

Accounting Consideration:

We have accounted for the Initial Note, Additiohaite and Warrant issued for cash as a financingséetion, wherein the net proceeds
that we received were allocated to the financisiriiments issued. Prior to making the accountilugation, we evaluated the Initial Note,
Additional Note and the Warrant for proper clagsifion under ASC 48Distinguishing Liabilities from Equit{*ASC 480") and ASC 815
Derivatives and Hedgin(*ASC 815").

ASC 815 generally requires the analysis of embedegleds and features that have characteristicsrofatives to be evaluated for
bifurcation and separate accounting in instancesrgvtheir economic risks and characteristics atelearly and closely related to the risks of
the host contract. The material embedded derivétiaires consisted of the conversion option atade® conversion reset price protection,
the Company'’s redemption privilege, and certaireregtion rights that were indexed to equity riskise Tonversion option and conversion
reset price protection, along with the redemptieaidres bearing risks of equity, were not cleanly elosely related to the host debt agree;
and required bifurcation. Current accounting ppies that are also provided in ASC 815 do not peamiissuer to account separately for
individual derivative terms and features that regbifurcation and liability classification. Ratheuch terms and features must be and were
bundled together and fair valued as a single, comgp@mbedded derivative.

The Warrant has a term of five and dradf years and at inception, had an initial exergece of $4.32. The contractual exercise prit
subject to adjustment for traditional recapitaii@atevents and was reset on the sixth month arsavgiof issuance to $3.60 per share.
Although the warrant did not fall within the scopeASC 480, the warrant required derivative lighiliccounting because the conversion
price reset protection terms are not consistertt thi¢ definition for financial instruments indexeda company’s own stock

Based on the previous conclusions, we allocateddkb proceeds first to the derivative componertsedr fair values (see NOTE L)
with the residual allocated to the host debt cantras follows:

Allocation
Initial Note $4,910,86:
Compound embedded derivati 2,989,53
Derivative warrant: 2,054,60.
$9,955,00!

The basis that was subject to allocation includhedgross proceeds of $10,000,000, less costs d@fithstor paid out of proceeds that
amounted to $45,000. We also allocated the difeahting costs of $500,000 to the note payabletlamdierivative components based upon
the relative fair values of these financial instants. As a result of this allocation, $246,653 veg®rded in deferred costs and $253,347 was
recorded as expense.

Allocation of the cash proceeds related to the Adldal Financing was as follows:

Allocation
Additional Note $6,339,64
Compound embedded derivati 1,291,29
Derivative warrant; 363,54
$7,994,48;

The basis that was subject to allocation includhedgross proceeds of $8,000,000, less costs d@fivketor paid out of proceeds that
amounted to $5,518. We also allocated the direetiting costs of $400,000 to the note payable lemderivative components based upor
relative fair values of these financial instrumenrts a result of this allocation, $317,201 was rded in deferred costs and $82,799 was
recorded as expense.

The financing basis allocated to the notes payabtethe deferred asset arising from direct finanusts are subject to amortization with
periodic charges to interest expense using theteféeinterest method. Amortization of these cormgrds included in interest expense during
the three and six months ended June 30, 2013 aswtm$606,500 and $1,295,833, respectively. Thigateve components are subject to re-
measurement to fair value at the end of each riegoperiod with the change reflected in income. Nete M for information about our
derivatives.
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NOTE | - STOCKHOLDERS'’ DEFICIT
Common Stock

To date in 2013, we issued 1,844,615 shares of anstock, valued at $4,970,665, representing payfoeprincipal and interest on
our Initial Note and Additional Note as describadNOTE H.

During the three-month period ended March 31, 20&3ssued 2,010,500 shares of common stock to ditedeinvestors upon exercise
of their outstanding warrants.

During 2012, we issued 1,441,013 shares of comrumk svalued at $4,262,527, representing paymerriacipal and interest on our
Initial Note and Additional Note as described inté&lél.

During the three-month period ended September @02 2we issued 287,500 shares of common stockutoafecredited investors upon
exercise of 287,500 outstanding warrants. We atseeid 140,000 shares of common stock for the csioveof 1 share of Series G
Convertible Preferred Stock and 8,900 shares ofwomstock upon the exercise of stock options frioengmployee stock incentive plan.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have two stock incentive plans, the 1997 Stackritive Plan and the 2005 Stock Incentive Plafa(fB. The 1997 Stock Incentive
Plan expired on August 17, 2007. As of that dap¢ipas cannot be granted from that plan, but ampigd and unexercised options will
continue to exist until exercised or expired. ThenRrovides for the grant of incentive stock optipnon-qualified stock options, restricted
stock awards, restricted stock units and stockeagigiion rights. We initially reserved 2,500,00000f authorized but unissued shares of
common stock for issuance under the Plan, antiedirhe the Plan was adopted, not more than 50@0fise shares could be used for
restricted stock awards and restricted stock u@itsJanuary 16, 2008, the Board of Directors apgdiamendments to the Plan to add
2,500,000 shares of common stock to the Plan]davainy number of shares to be used for restristeck awards, to clarify certain other
provisions in the Plan and to submit the amendad RIr stockholder approval. The amendments t&the were approved at the annual
meeting of stockholders on May 7, 2008. On Jur030, the stockholders approved the addition d@@O0 shares to the Plan. Any
incentive option and non-qualified option grantedier the Plan must provide for an exercise priceobviess than the fair market value of the
underlying shares on the date of grant, but theceseprice of any incentive option granted to kgilde employee owning more than 10% of
our outstanding common stock must not be less 1h8f6 of fair market value on the date of the grant.

Share-based compensation expense recognized d@mgriod is based on the value of the portioshafre-based payment awards that
is ultimately expected to vest. As share-based emsgition expense recognized in the statement ohtipes is based on awards ultimately
expected to vest, it can be reduced for estimatddifures. The ASC topic Stock Compensation rexguforfeitures to be estimated at the t
of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequengs if actual forfeitures differ from those estites. The share based compensation ch
against income for the three-month periods ended 3, 2013 and 2012 was $552,193 and $529,6G%ateely and for the six-month
periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 was $1,248r«V$918,088, respectively.

The weighted average estimated fair value of sttlons granted during the three-month periods @éddee 30, 2012 was $1.48. We
did not issue stock options in the three-monthqeeended June 30, 2013. The weighted averagedhie wf stock options granted is
determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricirggei, which values options based on the stock @ticee grant date, the expected life of
the option, the estimated volatility of the stottle expected dividend payments, and the risk-fiemrést rate over the life of the option. The
Black-Scholes option valuation model was develdpe@stimating the fair value of traded optionstthave no vesting restrictions and are
fully transferable. Because option valuation modetgiire the use of subjective assumptions, chaingasvariations from these assumptions
can materially affect the fair value of the options

June 30
June 30,
2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate — .39%
Expected volatility of common stoc — 65.3%%
Dividend yield — 0%
Expected life of option — 3.0 year

NOTE J - DEFERRED REVENUE

Since 2009, we entered into several marine seamefices contracts associated with the Robert Fré&gine, Ltd. projects. For each
contract, revenue is recognized over the contraperéod when services are performed as definetthéyontract. The period of time a search
project remains active varies but usually extends several months and may be accelerated or eedethebpending upon operational factors.
At December 31, 2012 as well as at June 30, 20&3ave a $2,835,522 service obligation on two sergontracts that will be recognized as
revenue over the period of time the contractualises are provided.

17



Table of Contents

NOTE K — CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

We maintain our cash at one financial institutibhe Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s stahotsurance amount is $250,000
per depositor, per insured bank, for each accowneoship category. The Bahamian Deposit Insurararpdation insures funds up to
$50,000 per depositor. At June 30, 2013, our catest@dld uninsured cash balance was approximately’ $tilion.

Our term loans bear a variable interest rate baeddBOR and our primary mortgage bears interest\ariable rate based on the pri
rate. See NOTE H for further detail on these imagnts. These instruments expose us to interestisteéOn our primary mortgage, for an
increase of every 100 basis points, our interelsgation increases by approximately $1,100 per mamitil maturity in July 2013. An incree
of 100 basis points to the interest rate on ounteans increases our interest obligation, at nimsgpproximately $4,200 per month. The
term loan has been amended and extended to July 3@& NOTE H. If an increase to the rates on timsseiments occurs, it will have an
adverse effect on our operating cash flows andiiz condition but we believe it would not be miatk

NOTE L — DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables summarize the components ofd@uivative liabilities and linked common sharesoéJune 30, 2013 and
December 31, 2012 and the amounts that were refléstour income related to our derivatives forshemonth periods ended June 30, 2013
and 2012:

June 30, December 31
2013 2012
Derivative liabilities:
Embedded derivatives derived fro
Senior Convertible Note $ 853,96 $1,529,58:
Warrant derivative
Senior Convertible Note 1,638,75I 1,921,009
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc 1,527,301 1,905,52
3,166,05I 3,826,62!
Total derivative liabilities $4,020,01. $5,356,20.
June 30, December 31
2013 2012
Common shares linked to derivative liabiliti
Embedded derivative
Senior Convertible Note 2,970,35! 4,247,34.
Warrant derivative
Senior Convertible Note 1,562,50I 1,562,50!
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc 2,250,001 2,250,001
3,812,50I 3,812,501
Total common shares linked to derivative liabit 6,782,85! 8,059,84.
Three months ended June Six months ended June ¢
2013 2012 2013 2012
Derivative income (expense
Unrealized gains (losses) from fair value chan
Senior Convertible Note $ 682,83: $(1,611,72) $ 42,26¢ $(1,099,82)
Series G Convertible Preferred Stc — (88,697 — (127,62¢)
Warrant derivative 1,120,30! (1,512,47)) 660,56 (1,862,38))
1,803,13 (3,212,90) 702,83¢ (3,089,83)
Redemptions of Senior Convertible No 195,46 — 633,35. —
Total derivative income (expens $1,998,59 $(3,212,90)  $1,336,18! $(3,089,83)

In October 2010, we completed a public offeringloéres of Series G Preferred Stock and warramsrthase common stock. In April
2011, we entered into separate agreements witlholeers of the Series G Preferred Stock wherebggreed to issue warrants to purchase
additional shares of common stock to the holderomsideration of the two holders agreeing to ektansix months the dates upon which
conversion option and the redemption option witpext to the shares of Series G Preferred Stockidyethem became exercisable and the
date upon which the redemption price of the shaf&eries G Preferred Stock held by them begandease by 1% per month. These
transactions gave rise to derivative financial
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instruments. The Series G Convertible PreferrediS¢mnbodied certain terms and features that batkgesed all of the conditions of
derivative financial instruments and were not dieand closely related to the host preferred cantraterms of economic risks and
characteristics. These terms and features corfdise @mbedded conversion option and the relatecheround anti-dilution protection
provision, the Company’s redemption privilege amel holder's redemption privilege. Each of the repom features also embodies the
redemption premium payments. The warrants issuedrinection with these transactions included dosumd anti-dilution protection and,
accordingly, were not afforded equity classificatio

In November 2011 and May 2012, we issued and setdo® Convertible Notes that included certain teemd conditions that were not
clearly and closely related to the host debt agesgnm terms of economic risks and characterisfibese terms and features consist of the
embedded conversion options, certain redemptidifesiand a conversion price reset feature. Wariastied in connection with these
transactions included reset price protection aodhmingly, were not afforded equity classification

Current accounting principles that are provided8C 815 -Derivatives and Hedgingequire derivative financial instruments to be
classified in liabilities and carried at fair valwith changes recorded in income. In addition,stamdards do not permit an issuer to account
separately for individual derivative terms and teas embedded in hybrid financial instruments tagtire bifurcation and liability
classification as derivative financial instrumerRather, such terms and features must be bundedhter and fair valued as a single,
compound embedded derivative. We have selectellléime Carlo Simulations valuation technique to failue the compound embedded
derivative because we believe that this technigueflective of all significant assumption typesgdaanges of assumption inputs, that market
participants would likely consider in transactiomgolving compound embedded derivatives. Such apsomns include, among other inputs,
interest risk assumptions, credit risk assumptamsredemption behaviors in addition to traditianplts for option models such as market
trading volatility and risk free rates. We haveestdd Binomial Lattice to fair value our warrantidatives because we believe this technique
is reflective of all significant assumption typeanket participants would likely consider in tran$ags involving freestanding warrants
derivatives. The Monte Carlo Simulations technigue level three valuation technique because itireg the development of significant
internal assumptions in addition to observable mirkdicators.

Significant inputs and results arising from the Mo@arlo Simulations process are as follows fordtrmpound embedded derivative
that has been bifurcated from our Senior Convertibbtes and classified in liabilities:

June 30, December 31,
2013 2012

Quoted market price on valuation date $ 2.9¢ $ 2.97
Contractual conversion ra $ 3.17 $ 3.74
Contractual term to maturit 0.84 Year: 1.33 Years
Implied expected term to maturi 0.80 Year: 1.24 Years
Market volatility:

Range of volatilities 20.0%- 54.4% 31.3%- 64.03%

Range of equivalent volatilitie 37.2%- 45.2% 38.6%- 45.0%
Contractual interest ra 8.0%- 9.0% 8.0%- 9.0%
Range of equivalent market risk adjusted interatgts 8.02%- 9.08% 9.0%- 9.1%
Range of equivalent credit risk adjusted yie 0.92% 0.94%- 1.03%
Risk-free rates 0.02%- 0.10% 0.02%- 0.16%

The following table reflects the issuances of coomgbembedded derivatives, redemptions and chanda# value inputs and
assumptions related to the compound embedded teesaluring the periods ended June 30, 2013 afd.20

Six Months ended

June 30
2013 2012

Balances at January 1 $1,529,58: $2,680,13:

Issuance: — 1,291,29

Expirations from redemptions of host contractsewtfd

in income (633,35) —

Changes in fair value inputs and assumptions teftec

in income (42,269 1,227,45
Balances at June $ (853,969 $5,198,88;

The fair value of the compound embedded derivasiggnificantly influenced by our trading markeige, the price volatility in trading
and the interest components of the Monte Carlo &ition technique.

In October 2010, we also issued warrants to puechg00,000 shares of our common stock in conreetith a public offering of our
Series G Convertible Preferred Stock, and in AZ0il1, we issued warrants to purchase an additgE2&000
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shares of our common stock to two holders of th&S& Convertible Preferred Stock in connectiothulie modification of the conversion
and redemption features of the shares of Seriesrettible Preferred Stock held by them. Additidyieih November 2011, we issued
warrants to purchase 1,302,083 shares of our constogk in connection with the sale of Senior Cotilskr Notes. These warrants required
liability classification as derivative financialstruments because certain down-round anti-dilypiariection or price protection features
included in the warrants are not consistent withabncept of equity. We applied the Binomial Lati@luation technique in estimating the
fair value of the warrants because we believetthiattechnique is most appropriate and reflectsfathe assumptions that market participants
would likely consider in transactions involving tivarrants, including the potential incremental eahssociated with the down-round anti-
dilution protections.

The Binomial Lattice technique is a level threeuadion technique because it requires the developofesignificant internal
assumptions in addition to observable market indisa Significant assumptions and utilized in thedBnial Lattice process are as follows for
both the issuance dates of the warrants and Jur028 and 2012 and December 31, 2012:

June 30 December 31,
2013 2012 2012
Linked common shares 1,725,00! 1,800,00! 1,725,00!
Quoted market price on valuation d $ 2.9¢ $ 3.72¢ $ 2.97
Contractual exercise ra $ 2.464¢ $ 2.5C $ 2.464¢
Term (years 0.2¢ 1.2¢ 0.7¢
Range of market volatilitie 17.3%- 53.6% 48.7%- 73.1% 33.1%- 49.17Y
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury
Security rate! 0.02%- 0.04% 0.04%- 0.27% 0.02%- 0.11%
June 30 December 31,
2013 2012 2012
Linked common shares 525,00( 525,00( 525,00(
Quoted market price on valuation d $ 2.9¢ $ 3.72¢ $ 2.97
Contractual exercise ra $ 2.464¢ $ 2.7¢ $ 2.464¢
Term (years 0.7¢ 1.7¢ 1.2¢
Range of market volatilitie 31.7%- 53.5% 48.9%- 72.2% 33.8%- 63.6%
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury
Security rate! 0.02%- 0.10% 0.04%- 0.27% 0.02%- 0.16%
June 30 December 31,
20138 2012 2012
Linked common shares 1,562,50! 1,562,50! 1,562,501
Quoted market price on valuation d $ 2.9¢ $ 3.72¢ $ 2.91
Contractual exercise ra $ 3.6( $ 3.6( $ 3.6C
Term (years 3.8¢ 4.8¢ 4.3t
Range of market volatilitie 44.3%- 62.3% 48.8%- 72.5% 39.2%- 70.2%
Risk free rates using zero coupon US Treasury
Security rate: 0.04%- 0.66% 0.09%- 0.72% 0.05%- 0.54%

Of the 1,302,083 common shares accessible frorvéneant issued on November 8, 2011, 434,027 oftleosnmon shares were
accessible only based upon the Company'’s eleatioaduire the lender to provide the additional ficiag. When the lender provided
additional financing of $8,000,000 on May 10, 20t additional 434,027 of common shares becanmesaitde. Warrants indexed to an
additional 260,417 were issued in conjunction wlith additional financing.

The following table reflects the issuances of datiive warrants and changes in fair value inputsasstimptions related to the deriva
warrants during the six months ended June 30, 2083012.

Six months ended June &

2013 2012
Balances at January 1 $3,826,61! $4,653,16!
Issuance: — 363,54
Changes in fair value inputs and assumptions tefteior income (660,56 1,862,38!
Balances at June : $3,166,05! $6,879,08,;
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The fair value of all warrant derivatives is sigeéintly influenced by our trading market price, reee volatility in trading and the risk free
interest components of the Binomial Lattice techeiq

NOTE M — REVENUE PARTICIPATION RIGHTS
The Company’s participating revenue rights condistiethe following at June 30, 2013 and Decembe2812:

December 31

June 30,
2013 2012
“ Cambridge’ project $ 825,00( $ 825,00(
“ Republic” (now" Seattle”) project 62,50( 62,50(
Galt Resources, LLC (HMVictory) 3,756,25! 3,756,25I
Total participating revenue righ $4,643,75! $4,643,75

We previously sold Revenue Participation Certitsaf'RPCs”) that represent the right to share infoture revenues derived from the “
Cambridgé€’ project, which is now referred to as the HN88sseshipwreck project. We also sold RPCs related toogept formerly called th
“ Republic” project which we now call theSeattle’ project. The “Seattle’ project refers to a shipwreck which we have neitlpcated. The
“ Cambridge”RPC units constitute restricted securities.

Each $50,000 convertibleCambridge”RPC entitles the holder to receive a percentaglkeogross revenue received by us from the “
Cambridgé€’ project, which is defined as all cash proceedsapée to us as a result of th&€ambridge” project, less any amounts paid to the
British Government or their designee(s); providealyever, that all funds received by us to finareegroject are excluded from gross
revenue. The Cambridge’ project holders are entitled to 100% of the 825,000 of gross revenue, 24.75% of gross reveEnme$4—

35 million, and 12.375% of gross revenue abover$iBion generated by the project.

In a private placement that closed in Septembe® 28@ sold “units” consisting of Republic” Revenue Participation Certificates and
Common Stock. Each $50,000 “unit” entitled the leolth 1% of the gross revenue generated by Sesttle’ project (formerly referred to as
the “Republic’ project), and 100,000 shares of Common Stocks&revenue is defined as all cash proceeds paiabkeas a result of the “
Seattle’ project, excluding funds received by us to finartlee project.

The participating rights balance will be amortizedtler the units of revenue method once managereaneasonably estimate potential
revenue for each of these projects. The RPCs éf @ambridge’ and “ Republic” projects do not have a termination date, theretuee
liabilities will be carried on the books until reuge is recognized from these projects or we pernthnabandon either project.

In February 2011, we entered into a project syriinaleal with Galt Resources LLC (“Galt”) for whithey invested $7,512,500
representing rights to future revenues of any angept Galt selected prior to December 31, 201thdfproject is successful, Galt will recoup
their investment plus three times the investmehesg amounts will be paid out of proceeds of tlogept. Galt will receive 50% of the
proceeds until this amount is recouped. Theredftey, will share in additional net proceeds of pheject at the rate of 1% for every million
invested. Subsequently we reached an agreemenitiiegn®Galt to bifurcate their selection betweerotprojects, the S&airsoppaand HMS
Victory with the residual 1% on additional net proceedgassl to the HMS/ictory project only. Galt was paid in full during the first quarter
of 2013 on their share of the &&irsoppaproject investment. The remaining amount paid tt Gaing the three-months ended March 31,
2013 was $12,506,755. Galt will also receive anamequal to 50% of our net proceeds, if any, enHIMSVictory project until they recei\
two times their initial investment and thereaftélt veceive 7.5125% of our net proceeds from the $Wctory project. Galt will not receive
any further distributions from th@airsoppaproject proceeds.

NOTE N — REDEEMABLE SERIES G PREFERRED STOCK

During October 2010, we designated and issued @¢slof our authorized preferred stock as Seri8%Gonvertible Preferred Stock,
par value $0.0001 per share (the “Series G Prefgras further discussed below. In April 2011 antidber 2011, we redeemed 3 and 20
shares, respectively, from certain holders of theeS G Preferred for cash of $757,500 and $5,865 fespectively, under the terms and
conditions of the Series G Preferred Certificat®esignation. At the time of redemption, the cargyvalue of these shares of Series G
Preferred amounted to $558,926 and $5,000,000ec&sply. We recorded the difference between tiemgption values paid and the carry
values amounting to $198,574 and $65,556, respytigs a deemed dividend in paid-in capital. S@dHE L for our accounting for the
associated compound embedded derivative that herdiiifircated and classified in liabilities. Duridgly 2012, the remaining 1 share of
Series G Preferred was converted into 140,000 sledreommon stock. There are no cumulative dividendarrears.
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Significant terms and conditions of the Series Ef€red are as follows:

Dividends. The holders of the Series G Preferred will gelhebe entitled to receive cash dividends at a cdt$20,000 per share per
year (or 8%), payable se-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each yeamowencing April 1, 2011. The dividends will be cuitiite and
shall accrue, whether or not earned or declared) find after the date of issue.

Liguidation Preference In the event of any liquidation, dissolution,vanding up of Odyssey’s affairs, each holder of wies G
Preferred then outstanding will be entitled to reeghefore any payment or distribution will be reagh Odyssey’s common stock or any
capital stock of Odyssey ranking junior to the 816 Preferred as to the payment of dividendsendistribution of assets, an amount per
share of Series G Preferred equal to the sum &2&),000 plus (b) any accrued but unpaid dividends

Voting Rights. The holders of Series G Preferred will be ertitie one vote for each share of common stock ittichvthe Series G
Preferred is convertible and will be entitled tdioe of meetings of stockholders. The holders afeSeG Preferred will also be entitled to v
as a separate class with respect to certain maittevgever, no holder may exercise its voting rightking so would result in the holder
beneficially owning in excess of 9.9% of the outsiag common stock, unless waived by the holder.

Conversion Rights At any time on or after April 15, 2011, any haladd shares of Series G Preferred may convert amyl of the
shares into shares of common stock. Each sharer@sSG preferred will be convertible into the nenbf shares determined by dividing
$250,000 by $1.785714, which we refer to as therexsion price. The number of shares of common sexikable upon conversion of the
Series G Preferred is subject to adjustment iraoegvents, as discussed in the next paragraph.

Adjustments to Conversion Rightdf Odyssey pays a dividend or makes a distrilsutin its common stock in shares of common stock,
subdivides its outstanding common stock into atgreaumber of shares, or combines its outstandamgneon stock into a smaller number of
shares, or if there is a reorganization, or a nresgeonsolidation of Odyssey with or into any atbatity which results in a conversion,
exchange, or cancellation of the common stock,sala of all or substantially all of Odyssey’s @ssthen the conversion rights described
above will be adjusted appropriately so that eastidr of Series G Preferred will receive the sdmsgior other consideration the holder wc
have received if the holderSeries G Preferred had been converted befoteaghening of the event. The conversion price iactffrom time
to time is also subject to downward adjustmentsfigsue or sell shares of common stock for a psecpace less than the conversion price or
if we issue or sell shares convertible into or eigable for shares of common stock with a convarpiice or exercise price less than the
conversion price for the Series G Preferred.

Limitations Upon Conversion RightsNo holder may convert shares of Series G Praféfiuch conversion would result in the holder
beneficially owning in excess of 9.9% of the outsiag common stock, unless waived by the holdeaddition, we will not issue any shares
of common stock upon conversion of shares of S&i€seferred if the issuance of such shares of comstock would exceed the aggregate
number of shares of common stock that we may igpoa conversion of all outstanding shares of S&@i&seferred and the outstanding
warrants offered hereby without breaching our @il@ns under the listing rules of the NASDAQ Stddarket relating to stockholder
approval of certain issuances of securities.

Redemption Odyssey has the option to redeem the Series férRy@, in whole or in part, at any time after Daber 15, 2010 at a
redemption price of 100% of the liquidation valG@mmencing after March 31, 2011, the redemptiocepiricreases 1.0% each month
without cap. Each holder will have the option tquiee Odyssey to redeem the Series G Preferredhate or in part, at any time after
December 15, 2011 at a redemption price commeratii§9% of the liquidation value, which increasd®d each without cap such that, a
December 15, 2011, the holder’s and Odyssey'’s retemprices will equal. In either case, the redgampprice to be paid by Odyssey for
each share of Series G Preferred will be the retlemprices referred to above plus accrued dividefithere is no sinking fund requirement
for redemption of the Series G preferred stock.

On October 11, 2010, we issued (i) 20 shares 0éS& Preferred, plus warrants to purchase 1,58G08ares of our common stock for
cash of $5,050,000 and (ii) 4 shares of Seriese®eRed, plus warrants to purchase 270,000 sh&@s @ommon stock to settle certain
promissory notes with a carrying value of $928,48%. have accounted for the Series G Preferred amchnts issued for cash as a financing
transaction, wherein the net proceeds that wevedevas allocated to the financial instrumentsddgsie have accounted for the Series G
Preferred and warrants issued in settlement optbmissory notes as an exchange, wherein we haveded the financial instruments issued
at their fair values and extinguished the promigsmtes resulting in an extinguishment loss.

The following table summarizes the allocation facle of these transactions as of October 11, 2010:

Financing Exchange Total
Redeemable preferred stock (1) $2,747,47 $ 888,99 $3,636,47.
Compound embedded derivatives 1,389,11. 261,31t 1,650,43.
Warrant derivatives (2 913,41( 161,19( 1,074,60
Extinguishment los — (383,02) (383,02)

$5,050,00! $ 928,48 $5,978,48:
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(1) The fair value of the redeemable preferredistoas estimated based upon its forward cash fldueyat a credit-risk adjusted market
interest rate, as enhanced by the fair value oEtlhwersion feature. Credit-risk adjusted ratesl useliscount the cash flow component
ranged from 3.98% to 4.89% over our estimated gdenaedemption, which is October 2013.The faiueadbf the conversion feature is
reflected in the compound embedded derivativedinthe table

(2) See NOTE N for information related to the vailma of these financial instruments both on theepteon date of the transactions and at
December 31, 201!

Prior to making the above accounting allocation,eweluated the Series G Preferred and the warf@npgoper classification under
ASC 480—Distinguishing Liabilities from Equitand ASC 815—Perivatives and Hedging

Series G Preferred:

ASC 480 generally requires liability classificatifor financial instruments that are certain to ééeemed, represent obligations to
purchase shares of stock or represent obligatmisstie a variable number of common shares. Wduded that the Series G Preferred was
not within the scope of ASC 480 because none offtteee conditions for liability classification wpsesent.

ASC 815 generally requires the analysis embeddeustand features that have characteristics of dtwvis to be evaluated for
bifurcation and separate accounting in instancesrgvtheir economic risks and characteristics atelearly and closely related to the risks of
the host contract. However, in order to perforns malysis we were first required to evaluate ttmmemic risks and characteristics of the
Series G Preferred in its entirety as being eigtikén to equity or akin to debt. Our evaluation daded that the Series G was more akin to a
debt-like contract largely due to the fact thatfihancial instrument is mandatorily redeemabledash at the option of the holder and has a
return in the form of a dividend that operates Eny with an interest rate on debt. Other featwkthe Series G Preferred that operate like
equity, such as the conversion option and votiduie, did not afford sufficient evidence, in oigw, to offset the weight of the primary
debt-like features; that is, the redemption feature the dividend feature. Accordingly, based ughisconclusion the clear and close
relationship of embedded derivative features wademalative to a debt-like contract.

The material embedded derivative features considtéue conversion option and related down-rountit@itution protection, the
Company’s redemption privilege, and the holderteraption privilege. The conversion option and edadnti-dilution protection, bearing
risks of equity, were not clearly and closely rethto the debt-like Series G Preferred and requiredcation. The redemption features,
although generally bearing risks of debt, suchraditand interest risk, were not clearly and dipselated to the Series G Preferred because
the Series G Preferred was deemed to be issuesusistantial discount and there are scenarios, Venvimprobable or remote, that the
redemption features as designed could double thesiar’s initial rate of return. Current accountprinciples that are also provided in ASC
815 do not permit an issuer to account separabelindlividual derivative terms and features thajuiee bifurcation and liability classificatio
Rather, such terms and features must be and weadddalitogether and fair valued as a single, comg@mbedded derivative.

Redeemable preferred stock represents preferrekl gtat is either redeemable for cash on a spedidfie or contingently redeemable
cash for events that are not within the contrahahagement. Redeemable preferred stock is requaifeel classified outside of stockholders’
equity (in the mezzanine section). Because theeS&iPreferred is redeemable at the holder’s optierare required to record the residual
from our allocation to the mezzanine section. Hmwunt is further subject to accretion to the rgolgon value over the term to the earliest
redemption date using the effective method. Th&eS& Preferred was fully accreted to its redermptialue during the period from inception
to April 2011.

Warrants:

The warrants issued in the financing and excharagesactions have terms of three years and an erguaice of $2.50. The contractual
exercise price is subject to adjustment for badlitronal recapitalization events and sales of comistock or other common stock linked
contracts below the contractual exercise price.[&tter is referred to as down-round anti-dilutfmotections. The warrants did not fall within
the scope of ASC 480 under any of the three catitreferred to above. However, the warrants reduderivative liability accounting
because certain down-round anti-dilution protectiare terms that are not consistent with the definfor financial instruments indexed to a
company’s own stock.
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NOTE O — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

During July 2013, Odyssey Marine Exploration, lentered into a $10 million project term loan agreehwith Fifth Third Bank. The
facility will mature on July 24, 2014. The term iobears interest at a floating rate equal to tteeroonth LIBOR rate plus 500 basis points.
Odyssey may make prepayments in whole or in pdhowut premium or penalty. An origination fee of $BI0 was payable at closing. A
restricted cash deposit of $500,000 was requiredter interest payments. The term loan is secoyepproximately $15.0 million worth of
silver recovered from the SSairsoppa. We recovered approximately 1.8 million ouncesibfer bullion in total during July 2013 which we
expect to monetize during the remainder of 2013.a/¢erequired to comply with a number of custonyenants. The proceeds will be u
to fund the project recovery costs.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion will assist in the undarsting of our financial position and results of @®ns. The information below
should be read in conjunction with the financiatsments, the related notes to the financial seésrand our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 2012.

In addition to historical information, this discims contains forward-looking statements within theaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 regarding the Company’s efgiéns concerning its future operations, earnarys$ prospects. On the date the forward-
looking statements are made, the statements reprtageCompany’s expectations, but the expectationserning its future operations,
earnings and prospects may change. The Company&sations involve risks and uncertainties (botlofable and unfavorable) and are
based on many assumptions that the Company believesreasonable, but such assumptions may uéiiynptove to be inaccurate or
incomplete, in whole or in part. Accordingly, thex@n be no assurances that the Company’s expetatial the forward-looking statements
will be correct. Please refer to the Company’s mesént Annual Report on Form 10-K for a descriptié risk factors that could cause actual
results to differ (favorably or unfavorably) fromet expectations stated in this discussion. Odyssejaims any obligation to update any of
these forward-looking statements except as requyddw.

Operational Update

Additional information regarding our announced pot$ may be found in our Annual Report on Form 1fokthe year ended
December 31, 2012 and Quarterly Report on Forr® X6r the quarter ended March 31, 2013. Only ptsj@gth material status updates sii
those report were filed are discussed below. We maag other projects in various stages of planoingxecution that may not be disclosed
for security or legal reasons until considered appate by management.

We may use our owned vessel, @ayssey Explorer chartered vessels to conduct operations basedailability.

HMS Victory Project

In 2008, Odyssey discovered HM&:tory (lost 1744) and is, as recognized by the ownenamtr maritime law, salvor-in-possession
of the wreck. After a period of joint consultatibatween the UK Ministry of Defense (MOD) and the Diépartment for Culture, Media and
Sport, and a public consultation period, the titl¢he HMSVictory was transferred to the Maritime Heritage Foundaitiodanuary 2012. The
Foundation, a charity established to locate shipkgginvestigate, recover and preserve artifacteadighest archaeological standards and to
promote knowledge and understanding of Britain'sitimae heritage, has now assumed responsibilitiHerfuture management of the wreck
site. The Foundation has contracted with Odysseydwide a full range of archaeological, recovegnservation and other services.

Pursuant to an agreement with the Foundation, @ghisas produced an extensive project design foarttieaeological excavation of t
site, including a complete plan for recording, doemtation, conservation, publication and publicaadion. The agreement calls for
Odyssey’s project costs to be reimbursed and fors€&ly to be paid a percentage of the recoverdddsti fair value. The preferred option is
for Odyssey to be compensated in cash.

A report was provided to the Foundation and theM8D that details monitoring of the site conductgdduyssey and Wreck Watch
International between 2008 and early 2012. Thertépoudes evidence, including photographs, ofitaital damage to the site since 2008
caused by human and natural forces. This reporipwbbshed in June 2012 and is available here/Rtppwreck.net/victorypapers.phye
also provided a revised archaeological projectgiesieveloped as a result of the impact repothedvaritime Heritage Foundation. This
revised project design has been approved by thadation’s Scientific Advisory Committee, chaired fmarine archaeologist Dr. Margaret
Rule and, submitted to the UK MOD by the Maritimeritage Foundation. On January 31, 2013, the Magitderitage Foundation received a
response from the MOD in which it was acknowledtfeste is an identified threat to the Victory sit&e letter also sets forth a set of Key
Management Principles to be agreed prior to unkieigeadditional work on the site. We have reachgét@ment on these management
principles with the Foundation which would allowtasmove forward on the project, while providingwort to the Government and the
MOD Advisory Group that proper archaeological piihes will be adhered to through the course offtfagect. The Foundation has submitted
these Management Principles as well as a repatlitgtthe non-disturbance survey work on the twitthe MOD.

While awaiting instructions from the Maritime Hegfe Foundation to move forward on the Victory prhjeheOdyssey Explores
conducting survey operations on other projects.
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“ Gairsoppa’ Project

On January 25, 2010, Odyssey was awarded the &xelsslvage contract for the cargo of the@&Srsoppaby the United Kingdom
Government (UKG) Department for Transport. The cacttwas awarded after a competitive bid process.

The SSGairsoppawas a 412-foot steel-hulled British cargo ship thias torpedoed by a Germanbdat in February 1941 while enlist
in the service of the UKG Ministry of War TranspdFhe British Ministry of War Transport paid a WRisk Insurance Claim for35,514 (ir
1941 value) for 2,817 bars of silver that were reggbto be on board th@airsoppawhen she sank. Sources, including Lloyd’'s Record/af
Losses indicate a total cargo of silver worth £600,at the time was lost on the Gairsoppa, whictltvequate to approximately seven
million total ounces of silver was on board, inghglover 3 million ounces of private silver bulliarsured by the UKG. The UKG only paid
this insurance on privately-owned cargo. Any casgmed by the UKG would not have been insured thinadhg War Risk Insurance Office.

Under the recovery contract, Odyssey assumesdkeanid responsibility for the search, cargo recpwmcumentation, and marketing
the cargo and will retain 80% of the net salvedigal

Search operations began in July 2011. On SepteR@e&011, we announced confirmation of the idergtitg location of the SS
Gairsoppaapproximately 300 miles southwest of Galway, Irdlan waters approximately 4700 meters deep.

Initial recovery operations began aboard the B8&bed Workesn June 4, 2012, and ended on September 23, 2QtRg2012
operations, a total of 1,218 silver ingots, weighapproximately 1.4 million troy ounces, were rem@d from the S&airsoppa,as well as
several hundred artifacts which have been declaréte UKG Receiver of Wreck.

The silver bullion recovered in 2012 was refined anld on the London Metals Exchange. The first sacurred in September 2012
continued thru January 2013. Over $41 million ingaeds were received. In addition, over $600jAQbld value was extracted as a by-
product during of the silver processing.

Odyssey began 2013 operations on@®aérsoppain June 2013. On July 22, we announced the recaMeay additional 1,574 silver
ingots weighing about 1,100 ounces each or alm8stnlllion troy ounces in total, settings a newaretfor the deepest and largest precious
metal recovery from a shipwreck. Included in tiiésavery were bars of .999 fine silver. The silvas been transported to a secure facility in
the United Kingdom and analysis has begun in pegjmar for processing.

The recovery from the SGairsoppa(2012 and 2013 operations) totals 2,792 silverisigo more than 99% of the insured silver repotted
be aboard th&airsoppawhen she sank. To date, no uninsured silver has loeated.

“Mantola” Project

Odyssey was also awarded the exclusive salvageaoombr the cargo of the S8antolaby the UKG Department for Transport. On
October 10, 2011, we announced the discovery cg8Mantola, which sank on February 9, 1917, after being tdogel by German
submarine U-81. Odyssey discovered the shipwrepkoxpmately 2,500 meters beneath the surface oftinhern Atlantic Ocean,
approximately 100 miles from the &&&irsoppashipwreck.

In 1917, the British Ministry of War Transport padNar Risk Insurance Claim for £110,000 (in 19&lug) for silver that was reported
to be on board th®lantolawhen she sank. This sum would equate to more tB8080 ounces of silver based on silver priceitirl In
September 2011, the UK Government Department fangport awarded Odyssey a salvage contract faratg® of the S™Mantola. The
terms and conditions are similar to the SS Gairaggtvage contract. Under the agreement, Odysdksetin 80% of the net salved silver
value recovered.

Operations on thantolawere planned in conjunction with operations on$i%Gairsoppaunder the umbrella of “North Atlantic
Expedition.” In 2012, operations were conductetest ship and equipment capabilities while on trelswerMantolasite as well as perfor
initial recovery efforts during 12 days early iretbxpedition. Recovery operations on k@ntolaare being conducted during the 2013 se¢

Commodity Wreck Program

On September 20, 2012, we announced project appodasalvage contracts from ship owners for airyethir commodity shipwreck
program with a potential total recovery value opagximately $184 million based upon current commypogrices and related assumptions.
Odyssey has negotiated salvage contracts withostiers that will award 90% of the net recoveredjcaralue to Odyssey for four separate
deep-ocean shipwrecks carrying valuable commoditlesn they sank. There are additional valuablevet@pks that do not require salvage
agreements that can be added to the program amdttakein while Odyssey has a ship and equipmenbyear

Planning is underway to assemble the necessaryaskigquipment for the exploration, assessmentenavery of these cargoes.
Exploration and assessment is targeted to bedt013. The timing will depend on the availabilitysfips, the success and amount of ship
time dedicated to the Gairsoppa and Mantola prejactl other factors.
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Subsea Mineral Mining Exploration Projects

Neptune Minerals: We currently own 6.2 million sésmof Neptune Minerals, a company focused on dexttioy and commercializing
high-value mineral deposits. To date Neptune Milsenas been successful in attracting the investagpital required to fund mineral
exploration expeditions. Neptune’s capital raisenpleted in December 2011, was at $12 per shatdass B common stock. Neptune
Minerals completed another private placement in22@t approximately $17 million at $17.50 per sh@er current ownership is
approximately 30%. Odyssey and Neptune are cuyrefghning operations in one of Neptune’s highlggmective tenement areas to produce
a formal resource estimate.

Chatham Rock Phosphate: We currently own 9.3 miliibares of Chatham Rock Phosphates, Ltd (CRP@®IBtham Rock Phosphate
currently holds a license covering over 4,000 sgkdometers off the coast of New Zealand belieteedave significant seabed deposits of
rock phosphate and other potentially valuable nailseiSince our share acquisition, the stock praserisen dramatically. Other major
investors have acquired shares that have dilutegagition to approximately 7.3%.

Oceanica Resources: In February 2013, we disclosldsey’s ownership interest, through Odyssey Manterprises, Ltd., a wholly
owned Bahamian company (“Enterprises”), in OceaRiesources, S. de R.L., a Panamanian company ({@agaDceanica is in the business
of mineral exploration and controls exclusive pasmor offshore mineral deposits in an area whechélieved to feature a valuable mineral
resource based on extensive exploratory activitieertaken by Odyssey. Preliminary resource assgdmased on extensive coring and
laboratory work suggests that the mining concessidnich has been granted for a 50 year periodstabaidiary of Oceanica, is a world-class
resource with significant commercial and strategiltie. Coring sample assay results and prelimisangple beneficiation tests (sizing and
flotation) indicate that the resource can be fdasihd economically mined and processed. A drafthfiecal Report featuring a formal
resource assessment is in process and one of ti##sileading investment banks is advising the canypon options for maximizing the
value of this asset.

Odyssey initially held 77.6 million of Oceanica’8Q.0 million outstanding shares. Subsequently, fpritees sold and transferred to
Mako Resources (Mako), LLC 15.0 million sharesdquurchase price of $1.00 per share or $15 mi#ioth granted Mako options to purch.
an additional 15.0 million shares at the purchasepf $2.50 per shares before December 31, 2013.

In June, 2013 Mako exercised an option to purchasadditional 8 million shares. The option exergisee of $1.25 per share,
discounted from the original exercise price of $208r share in order to facilitate this transactiepresents a 25% value increase over the
price Mako paid for the Oceanica shares purchas€&elbruary 2013. Mako continues to hold the optiopurchase an additional seven
million shares of Oceanica at $2.50 per share watiare on or before December 31, 2013.

As part of the company’s strategy for involvemeithvDceanica, in parallel with the early exerci®eyssey has executed an agreement
for the purchase of one million shares of Oceafrma another Oceanica shareholder at $1.25 peeshar transaction that provides a one-
year option to purchase an additional one millibares at $2.50 per share. This transaction alsag€dyssey voting rights on an additio
three million shares of Oceanica held by such offeanica shareholder so long as there is no chinrggatrol of Odyssey.

The net effect of these transactions is that Odyssie ultimately incur less dilution of its Ocearad ownership than originally anticipa
under the initial stock sale and option agreemetit Mako. Assuming all options are exercised angelaon the total number of shares
currently outstanding, Odyssey would own 49.6 pairoé Oceanica with voting rights on a total ofpercent of the shares.

While undergoing routine dry dock, maintenance, iasg@ections th®orado Discoveryipgraded equipment and capabilities including
installation of additional drilling/coring tools dran advanced Reson 7150 multi-beam sonar systeatleaof mapping the ocean floor and
analyzing targets to 6000 meters deep. Testingusunderway and thBorado Discoverys resuming survey and exploration projects in the
Pacific Ocean.

Admiralty Legal Proceedings

An admiralty arrest is a legal process in whichmagy seek recognition from the Court of our salvepossession status for a specific
shipwreck, site or cargo. It is the first legalpsie establishing our rights to ownership or tabvage award. If we are able to confirm that any
entity has a potential legitimate legal claim ty amaterials recovered from any shipwreck site, vileprovide legal notice to any and all
potential claimants and pursue prompt resolutidradl @laims.

“Black Swan” Arrest

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals upheld thentissal of the case by the United States Fedesati@iCourt for the Middle Distric
of Florida finding no subject matter jurisdictionder the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act. On Fabri23, 2012, Odyssey complied with
the Court’s order by transferring the coins andaats to Spain. On April 16, 2012, Spain filed atian with the district court for an award of
fees and costs related to the case. On Novemb@012, the district court Magistrate Judge enter&eport and Recommendation
recommending that Spain be awarded fees and &astenly those incurred after dismissal of the dasen February 10, 2012 to March 20,
2012, related to the transfer of artifacts helihraltar. On July 2, 2013, the Magistrate Judgeaes a second Report and Recommendation
clarifying the hourly rates recommended for usedltulating any fees to be awarded. The courtddeentthe matter under consideration.

26



Table of Contents

All of Odyssey’s significant filings to-date, inding those made at the district court level, canibered at
http://www.shipwreck.net/blackswanlegal.php

Unidentified Shipwreck (Bray Case)

On August 15, 2012, the district court dismisseas tlse, finding that the Plaintiff had failed tate a cause of action upon which relief
could be granted. The Eleventh Circuit upheld tisenéssal on March 11, 2013, and the case was closépril 16, 2013.

Critical Accounting Policies and Changes to Accouiig Policies

There have been no material changes in our criicabunting estimates since December 31, 201hana we adopted any accounting
policy that has or will have a material impact am oonsolidated financial statements.

Results of Operations

The dollar values discussed in the following tapéesept as otherwise indicated, are approximationise nearest $100,000 and
therefore do not necessarily sum in columns or réwes more detail refer to the Financial Stateméntart I, Item 1.

Three-months ended June 30, 2013, compared to threeonths ended June 30, 2012

Increase/(Decrease 2013 vs. 201
(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 $ %
Artifact sales and other $ 2 $ 1 $ 1 71%
Exhibit — | (.2) (72)
Expedition charte — 1.2 (1.2 (100
Total revenue $ 3 $ 14 $(1.2) (82)%
Cost of sale: $ 1 $ .1 $— 6%
Marketing, general and administrati 2.6 2.t 4 18
Operations and resear 9.E 9.€ — —
Total operating expens $12&5 $121 $ 4 3%
Other income (expens $ 1.1 $ (49 $6.C 122%
Net income (loss $(10.9  $(15.6) $4.7 30%

The explanations that follow are for the three-nherended June 30, 2013, compared to the three-memntted June 30, 2012.

Revenue

The decrease in total revenue of $1.2 million ih2Was primarily related to a decrease in expeditivarter revenue which was
associated with our subsea mineral explorationtetsmarelated to Chatham Rock Phosphate, Ltd. ahseteices performed in 2012.

Operating Expenses

Marketing, general and administrative expenses %2r@ million in 2013 as compared to $2.5 million2012. The increase of $.4
million primarily represented an increase in owfpssional fees and services, and other employatedeexpenses.

Operations and research expenses were $9.5 millid@13 as compared to $9.6 million in 2012. Therease in operating and research
expenses represented an increase in mineral etiploverhead expenses ($.6 million) and @&@rsoppaproject chartered vessel cost ($.5
million) offset by a decrease in ship operationd eesearch expenses ($1.2 million).

Other income and expense generally consists afeistténcome on investments offset by interest expem our bank term and other
mortgage loans and convertible notes. It also teduthe change in fair value of the derivativeatesl to our issuance of Series G convertible
preferred stock and senior convertible notes. Therancome variance of $6.0 million in the firstagter of 2013 was primarily related to the
fair value of the derivative financial instrumeif#s.2 million, see NOTE L).
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Six-months ended June 30, 2013, compared to sixonths ended June 30, 2012

Increase/(Decrease 2013 vs. 201
(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012 $ %
Artifact sales and other $ 1.C $ 2 $ .8 45C%
Exhibit A A — (29
Expedition charte — 4.C (4.0 (200
Total revenus $ 1.1 $ 4.3 $(3.2) (74)%
Cost of sale: $ 2 $ 1 $ 1 94%
Marketing, general and administrati 5.7 4.8 .9 18
Operations and resear 15.2 14.7 o3 4
Total operating expens $21.2 $19.7 $1E 8%
Other income (expens $ (6 $(6B7 851 89%
Net income (loss $(20.6) $221.1) $ 5 2%

The explanations that follow are for the six-morghded June 30, 2013, compared to the six-monthesdejune 30, 2012.

Revenue

The decrease in total revenue of $3.2 million wawarily related to a decrease in expedition chrageenue of $4.0 million and an
increase in artifact sales and other of $.8 milliooins and Gairsoppa project proceeds). The deerieeexpedition charter revenue of $4.0
million was associated with our subsea mineral@gpion charter services with Chatham Rock Phogshaftf the coast of New Zealand
which took place in 2012. The increase in artif@des of was due to over 500 more coins sold ir2tHe versus 2012.

Operating Expenses
Cost of sales increased by $.1 million in 2013 uer8012 due more than 500 silver coins sold iR013 versus 2012.

Marketing, general and administrative expenses $8re million in 2013 as compared to $4.8 million2012. The increase of $.9
million represented an increase in employee-relaigeenses ($.7 million) which primarily relatedstrare-based compensation and additional
incentive accruals, and professional fees and cs\(.4 million) offset by other favorable expense

Operations and research expenses were $15.2 millidd13 as compared to $14.7 million in 2012. Twease of $.5 million
represented an increase in mineral explorationhmaetr expenses ($.8 million) and tBairsoppaproject chartered vessel cost ($.5 million)
offset by a decrease in ship operations and o#smarch expenses ($.8 million).

Other Income (Expense)

Other income and expense generally consists afeistténcome on investments offset by interest expem our bank term and other
mortgage loans and convertible notes. It also teduthe change in fair value of the derivativeatesl to our issuance of Series G convertible
preferred stock and senior convertible notes. Berable other expense variance of $5.1 millioB0&3 was primarily related to a favorable
impact on the fair value of the derivative finahémstruments ($4.4 million, see Note L). Also inded in other expense was a favorable
impact of $.7 million that was related to lowerergst expense which primarily related to the irgeaecretion on the convertible note payable
versus 2012.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Six-Months Ended

(Dollars in thousands) June 2012 June 2012
Summary of Cash Flow

Net cash used by operating activit $(26,50¢) $(13,127)
Net cash used by investing activit (2,629 (597)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 29,37¢ 9,28¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 241 $ (4,436
Beginning cash and cash equivale 10,09¢ 7,972
Ending cash and cash equivale $ 10,33¢ $ 3,53¢

Discussion of Cash Flow

Net cash used by operating activities for the Sigstmonths of 2013 was $26.5 million. This amopmitnarily reflected a net loss before
non-controlling interest of $20.8 million offset jrart by non-cash items of $2.4 million includingpdeciation and amortization ($.9 million),
share-based compensation ($1.2 million), noteslgayaterest accretion and loan fee
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amortization ($1.3 million), unfavorable changehe fair value of derivative liabilities ($1.3 mdh increase to Net Loss, see NOTE L), and
senior debt interest settled with common stock (®ilBon). These non-cash expenses were offset B anillion note payable that was
converted to an investment in consolidated entiDcéanica”). Other working capital changes (inchglhon-current assets) also provided a
decrease in working capital of $7.8 million whictinparily included an $11.4 decrease in accrued esge primarily representing the $12.5
million payment to Galt Resources LLC for the renak@r due on th&airsoppaproject. Other changes included a $1.7 million dase in
accounts receivable primarily relating@airsoppaproject proceeds, and a $.4 million decrease iantary and restricted cash, a $1.8 mill
increase in other assets which primarily represktite charter deposit for tliairsoppaproject and a $3.3 million decrease in accounts
payable.

Net cash used by operating activities for the 8istmonths of 2012 was $13.1 million. This amopitarily reflected an operating lo
of $21.1 million offset in part by non-cash itenfs$6.8 million including depreciation and amortipat ($.8 million), share-based
compensation ($.9 million), notes payable inteagstetion and loan fee amortization ($2.0 milliamfavorable change in the fair value of
derivative liabilities ($3.1 million increase to Neoss, see NOTE L). Other working capital chan@esluding non-current assets) also
provided an increase in cash of $1.2 million. Thelsgnges primarily included a net increase of o#issets and accounts receivable of $3.0
million (primarily relating to the $3.0 million clnier deposit for ouGairsoppaandMantolarecovery projects) offset by a net increase in
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $4.@m{grimarily relating to our ship charter operagh

Cash flows used in investing activities for thetfisix months of 2013 were $2.6 million. The majarchases in the first quarter 2013
included $1.8 million for new mineral exploratiogugpment for the Dorado Discovery (a state-of-theraulti beam system and traction
winch). Also included for 2013 was $.5 million fibre Odyssey Explorer which included equipment regii@ent and a major engine overhaul
which extended the useful life of the vessel agsedther $.3 million in investing activities for 28 represented the purchase of other marine
and corporate property and equipment. Cash flowd usinvesting activities for the first six months2012 of $.6 million represented the
purchase of marine property and equipment.

Cash flows provided by financing activities for ffirst six months of 2013 were $29.4 million whiphimarily represented $25.0 millic
from the sale of a 23% interest in Oceanica Ressyi8. de. R.L., (a Panamanian company “Oceaniaatgjority owned subsidiary (see
General Discussion und&ther Cash Flow and Equity AreasOceanica is in the business of mineral explorasind controls exclusive
mining licenses for offshore mineral deposits. Tibenses include areas which, based upon extergpieration and analysis undertaken by
Odyssey, are believed to feature valuable minesaurces. Preliminary resource assessments indicdtthe licenses, or concessions, which
have been granted for a 50-year period to a wivilged subsidiary of Oceanica, may prove to haveifsignt economic and strategic value.
Additional cash flow was provided from the exeraé®utstanding warrants ($4.9 million) offset l®payment of debt obligations ($.5
million). Cash flows provided by financing actiés for the first six months of 2012 was $9.3 millishich primarily represented $2.0 milli
proceeds from the additional term loan from Fifthirdl Bank in March 2012 offset by repayment of gage and loans payable and the $8.0
million additional proceeds from the second tranchthe Senior Convertible Note (Additional Note).

Other Cash Flow and Equity Areas
General Discussion

At June 30, 2013, we had cash and cash equivaléfts0.3 million, an increase of $.2 million froimet December 31, 2012 balance of
$10.1 million.

In January 2013, we entered into a letter agreemightthe Senior Convertible Note investor agredmgdefer until March 1, 2013, the
installment payments that would have been otherdigeOn January 1, 2013 and February 1, 2013.rmdestor had previously agreed to
defer the December installment payments therefaiemg the total amount of payments deferred apprately $2.4 million. Also, the
Additional Note conversion price was amended fr@v$ to $3.17. The remaining principal balance eté&nber 31, 2012 for the Additional
Note was $4.1 million

During January 2013, investors exercised $2.25amésrwhich expired on January 31, 2013 in the amoiuover $4.5 million.

During February 2013 Odyssey Marine Exploratiom, [({Odyssey”), Odyssey Marine Enterprises, LtdBadnamian company (the
“Enterprises”), and Oceanica Resources, S. de, R.IPanamanian company (“Oceanica”), entered iptarehase agreement with an investor
group. Enterprises is a wholly owned subsidiar@pdf/ssey. As of the date of the purchase agreeraterprises held 77.6 million of
Oceanica’s 100.0 million outstanding cuotas (a ah&quity interest under Panamanian law). Enteggrsold the investor group 15.0 million
of the cuotas held by Enterprises for a purchase jof U.S. $1.00 per quota ($15 million). The istge was granted an option to purchase
15 million additional cuotas held by Enterprisesashthave an exercise price of U.S. $2.50 per canthare exercisable at any time and from
time to time through and until December 31, 2018e&hica is in the business of mineral exploratiwth @ontrols exclusive mining licenses
for offshore mineral deposits. The licenses incladgEas which, based upon extensive exploratioraaatysis undertaken by Odyssey, are
believed to feature valuable world-class minerabteces. Preliminary resource assessments indicattéhe licenses, or concessions, which
have been granted for a 50-year period to a wivilged subsidiary of Oceanica, may prove to haveifsignt economic and strategic value.
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During June 2013 Odyssey Marine Exploration, If©dfyssey”), received $10 million from the early esise of an option held by
Mako Resources, LLC, an independent investmentggrmupurchase eight million shares of OceanicaRees, S. de R.L. owned by
Odyssey. Mako was granted the option in conneatitim Mako’s earlier purchase of 15 million sharé®aeanica Resources from Odyssey
in February 2013. The option exercise price of $é&r share, discounted from the original exerpigee of $2.50 per share in order to
facilitate this transaction, represents a 25% valaeease over the price Mako paid for the Oceasl@aes purchased in February 2013. Mako
continues to hold the option to purchase an adtitiseven million shares of Oceanica at $2.50 lparesat any time on or before
December 31, 2013. As part of the our strategydmtain a control position in Oceanica, in paraliith the early exercise, Odyssey has also
reached an agreement to purchase one million shaf@seanica from another Oceanica shareholdet.@6%er share in a transaction that
provides a one-year option to purchase an additmmamillion shares at $2.50 per share. This &efign also grants Odyssey voting rights
on an additional three million shares of Oceanield by such other Oceanica shareholder so lonleais ts no change in control of Odyssey.
The net effect of these transactions is that Odyssie ultimately incur less dilution of its Ocearad ownership than originally anticipated
under the initial stock sale agreement with Makdys3ey will now be able to effectively maintainimgtcontrol in the entity. Assuming all
options are exercised and based on the total nuaflsdrares currently outstanding, Odyssey would @6 percent of Oceanica with voting
rights on a total of 52.6 percent of the shares.

During July 2013, we announced a successfully regoaf over 60 U.S. tons of silver bullion from tB&Gairsoppa, which included
1,574 silver ingots weighing approximately 1100 cegeach or approximately 1.8 million troy ounddse silver has been transported to a
secure facility in the United Kingdom and will benetized in 2013. After recovery of charter-relatggenses, the remaining proceeds will
be split 80% to Odyssey and 20% to the United Kamgd

Bank Term Loan

On July 11, 2013, we amended our $5 million teremlwith Fifth Third Bank (the “Bank”). The term loanatured on July 11, 2016,
subject to acceleration upon certain specified svérhe term loan bears floating interest at the month LIBOR rate plus 500 basis points.
We are required to make semi-annual fixed pringgagiments each year of $500,000, beginning Jariigrg014. Any prepayments may be
made without premium or penalty. A commitment reakfge of $25,000 was paid at closing. We are eguired to maintain restricted cash
on deposit in connection with the term loan.

The term loan is secured by approximately 25,006@ismnatic coins recovered from the BR8publicshipwreck, which amount will be
reduced over the term by the amount of coins spldsh The coins used as collateral are held bystodian for the security of the Bank. The
borrowing base is equal to forty percent (40%)ef ¢ligible coin inventory valued on a rolling twelmonth wholesale average value basis.
We are required to comply with a number of custgntavenants.

In conjunction with the renewal of the term loarg also renewed our mortgage Loan Agreement witlB#drek for our corporate office
building. This loan had a remaining principal balamwf $1,302,000 as of July 11, 2013. The Renewati@ercial Property Note (the “Note”)
bears floating interest at the one month LIBOR ptis 375 basis points. The loan matures on JulQ16 and requires us to make monthly
principal payments in the amount of $10,750, pk@ed interest. The first mortgage is secureddsyreal property at 5215 West Laurel
Street, Tampa, Florida, the location of our priatipxecutive offices. The Second Amendment to th@nLAgreement, the Note, and the
Mortgage contain customary representations andantes, affirmative and negative covenants, comatti and other provisions. An interest
and principal reserve account has been modifieddaire an amount equal to $400,000 annually otwhie already had approximately
$200,000 in the account.

On July 24, 2013, Odyssey Marine Exploration, krttered into a $10 million project term loan agreetiwith Fifth Third Bank. The
facility will mature on July 24, 2014. The term fokears interest at a floating rate equal to treernanth LIBOR rate plus 500 basis points.
Odyssey may make prepayments in whole or in pahout premium or penalty. An origination fee of $8I0 was payable at closing. A
restricted cash deposit of $500,000 would be regluio cover any potential interest payments ifftileamount of the term loan is advanced.
The term loan is secured by approximately $15.0Ganiworth of silver recovered from the &&irsoppa. We are required to comply with a
number of customary covenants. The proceeds wilideel to fund the project recovery costs.

Trends and Uncertainties

Our current 2013 business plan estimates positigh §ow from operating and financing activitiefi€lplan contains assumptions wi
include that several of our planned projects aneléa through project recoveries (Gairsoppa) andrdthancings, syndications or other
partnership opportunities. The 2013 business ptaereses include a 90-day charter agreement whiategently executed with a company to
provide a ship and equipment to conduct recovegratjpns on th&airsoppaandMantolaprojects similar to the work performed in 2012
when we monetized over $41 million of silver. Basgdn our current expectations, we believe our pasiition will be sufficient to fund
operating cash flows throughout the rest of 20kBtpinto account our beginning cash balance, atirash flow expectations and revenues
from multiple sources, including projected sal@sifrrecoveries, syndicated projects and other piatdittancing opportunities. We renewed
our term and mortgage loans with Fifth Third Bankluly 2013. We have also borrowed $10 millionutly 2013 from Fifth Third Bank
which was secured by Gairsoppa project proceedsdagson the recent recovery. We have experiencadae/ears of net losses resulting in
a stockholders’ deficit. Our capacity to generatincome in future periods is dependent upon oacess in
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recovering and monetizing shipwrecks, realizingitedains from sale of interest in mineral exptara entities, generating income from
shipwreck or mineral exploration charters or getiegancome from other projects. If cash flow i safficient to meet our projected busin
plan requirements, we will be required to raiseitioithl capital or curtail expenses. While we héeen successful in raising the necessary
funds in the past, there can be no assurance thaaw continue to do so.

New Accounting Pronouncements
As of June 30, 2013, the impact of recent accogminonouncements on our business is not consideree material.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in off-balance sheet financingrgements. In particular, we do not have any isténeso-called limited purpose
entities, which include special purpose entitieBES) and structured finance entities.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

Market risk is the exposure to loss resulting frcdmanges in interest rates, foreign currency exohaages, commodity prices and equity
prices. Our term loan and primary mortgage bearést at variable rates and expose us to inteatsstisk. Our term loan bears a variable
interest rate based on LIBOR and our primary mgpgaears an interest at a variable rate basedeqpritine rate. See NOTE H for further
detail on these instruments. Both of these instnimexpose us to interest rate risk. On our primaoytgage, for an increase of every 100
basis points, our interest obligation increasemat, by approximately $1,100 per month until migtin July 2013. On our term loan, an
increase of every 100 basis points to the intesstincreases our interest obligation, at mosggproximately $4,300 per month until
maturity in July 2013. If an increase to the ratrghese instruments occurs, it will have an adveffect on our operating cash flows and
financial condition but we believe it would not tmaterial. We do not believe we have other matenilket risk exposure and have not
entered into any market risk sensitive instrumémisitigate these risks or for trading or specukafurposes.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Odyssey maintains a set of disclosure controlspradedures designed to ensure that informationiredjto be disclosed in reports that
it files or submits under the Securities Exchangé @ 1934 is recorded, processed, summarizedepatted within the time periods specif
in Securities and Exchange Commission rules amdgoAs of the end of the period covered by thioregased on an evaluation carried out
under the supervision and with the participatiomwf management, including the Chief Executive €ffi(CEO) and Chief Financial Officer
(CFO), of the effectiveness of our disclosure anlstand procedures, the CEO and CFO have conclirdédur disclosure controls and
procedures are effective. There have been no gigntfchanges in our internal controls over finaheéporting during the first quarter of 2(
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjyjito materially affect, our internal controlsesfinancial reporting.

PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. Legal Proceedings

The Company is not currently a party to any makdtigation other than the admiralty proceedingscribed in this report. From time
time in the ordinary course of business, we maguigect to or may assert a variety of claims orslaits.

See the information set forth under the headinget@fponal Update — Admiralty Legal ProceedingsPant I, Item 2 of this report for
disclosure regarding certain admiralty legal pra@egs in which we are involved. Such informatioméreby incorporated by reference into
this Part Il, ltem 1.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

For information regarding risk factors, please rééeltem 1A in the Company’s Annual Report on FdrtiK for the year ended
December 31, 2012. Investors should consider sakHactors, as well as the risk factor set forgoly, prior to making an investment
decision with respect to the Company'’s securities.

The issuance of shares at conversion prices lowéran the market price at the time of conversion andhe sale of such shares could
adversely affect the price of our common stock.

Some of our outstanding shares may have been adduim time to time upon conversion of outstandiagior convertible notes at
conversion prices that are lower than the markeemf our common stock at the time of conversi@dyssey has agreed to pay each
amortization payment due under the notes in shafr@glyssey’s common stock, if certain conditions muet; provided, that Odyssey may, at
its option, elect to pay such amortization payméntsash. The conversion rate applicable to anyrmadion payment in shares of Odyssey’s
common stock will be the lower of (a) the then-euntrconversion price and (b) a price equal to 8500%e average of the volume-weighted
average price of Odyssey’s shares of common sturck fen-day period immediately prior to the apgdhlie amortization date. Conversion of
the notes at conversion prices that are lower thamarket price at the time of conversion andstile of the shares issued upon conversion
could have an adverse effect upon the market pfioeir common stock.
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ITEM 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities andse of Proceeds

None.

ITEM 6. Exhibits

10.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.1

Security purchase agreement (Filed herewith elpictatly)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 (Filed herewith electronical
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuamnt $ection 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 (Filed herewith electronicall
Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Filed herewith electraltyg

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350 (Filed herewith electralyg
Interactive Data Fili

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caussddiport to be signed on its behalf by
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC

Date: August 8, 2013 By: /s/ Michael J. Holmes

Michael J. Holmes, Chief Financi
Officer and Authorized Office
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Exhibit 10.1

S ECURITIES P URCHASE
AND

O PTION A GREEMENT

THIS SECURITIES PURCHASE AND OPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement) is made and entered into effective as of
July 12, 2013 (the “ Effective Datg by and betwee®NA LTD. , Inc., a Panamanian company (* DNAandODYSSEY MARINE
ENTERPRISES, LTD., a Bahamian company (“ EnterprisgsDNA and Enterprises are sometimes hereinaftdividually referred to as a
“ Party” and collectively referred to as the “ Partigs

Background Information:

DNA owns, beneficially and of record, an aggregs#t&9,200,000 quotas (a unit of equity interestarf@anamanian law) (“ Shargsof
Oceanica Resources, S. De R.L., a Panama Sociedadsponsabilidad Limitada (* Oceanig¢aEnterprises desires to purchase from DNA,
and DNA desires to sell to Enterprises, one miltidthe Shares held by DNA, on the terms and stibjethe conditions set forth in this
Agreement. In addition, DNA has agreed to grarirterprises an option to purchase an additionahoitimn of the Shares held by DNA, on
the terms and subject to the conditions set fortihis Agreement. The Parties desire to entertmitoAgreement to set forth the terms and
conditions upon which Enterprises shall and maglpase Shares from DNA and to reduce to writing rothatters related thereto.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the repres@énis, warranties, covenants, agreements and tcomsiset
forth in this Agreement, and intending to be legalbund, the Parties agree as follows:

Article 1
Definitions

The following terms have the meanings set fortlowel

“ Beneficial Ownef of a security includes any person who, directlyralirectly, through any contract, arrangementjerstanding,
relationship, or otherwise has or shares: i) Votingrer which includes the power to vote, or to clitbe voting of, such security;
and/or, i) Investment power which includes the poto dispose, or to direct the disposition of hssecurity.

“ Change in Control means that:

(a) any Person is or becomes the Beneficial Owdiegctly or indirectly, of securities of Odysseyresenting fifty percent
(50.0%) or more of the combined voting power of €sBy’s then outstanding securities, excluding argdh who becomes such a
Beneficial Owner in connection with a transacti@sctribed in clause (1) of paragraph (C) below; or

(b) the following individuals cease for any reasoronstitute a majority of the number of directdrsn serving: individuals who,
on the date hereof, constitute the Board of Dinesctd Odyssey and any new director (other thamecthr whose initial assumption of
office is in connection with an actual or threatdedection contest), whose appointment or eledipthe Board of Directors was
approved or recommended by a vote of at least hivds (2/3) of the directors then still in officha either were directors on the date
hereof or whose appointment, election or nominakiorelection was previously so approved or recomaee; ot



(c) there is consummated a merger or consolidaidddyssey with any other corporation, other thBna(merger or consolidation
which would result in the voting securities of Oslgg outstanding immediately prior to such mergesamsolidation continuing to
represent (either by remaining outstanding or bgidpeonverted into voting securities of the sumiyientity or any parent thereof) fifty
percent (50.0%) or more of the combined voting posiehe securities of Odyssey or such survivingteor any parent thereof
outstanding immediately after such merger or cadabbn; or (2) a merger or consolidation effedtedmnplement a recapitalization of
Odyssey (or similar transaction) in which no Persoor becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly aiiactly, of securities of Odyssey

(not including in the securities beneficially ownlgglsuch Person any securities acquired direatijn fOdyssey) representing fifty
percent (50.0%) or more of the combined voting posieOdyssey’s then outstanding securities; or

(d) the stockholders of Odyssey approve a plamofgete liquidation or dissolution of Odyssey certhis consummated an
agreement for the sale or disposition of Odyssegllair substantially all of Odysseyassets, other than a sale or disposition by @g
of all or substantially all of Odyssey’s assetsumoentity, at least fifty percent (50.0%) of thentwned voting power of the voting
securities of which are owned by stockholders of€3dy in substantially the same proportions as tvenership of Odyssey
immediately prior to such date.

“ Encumbrancé means any charge, claim, community property edgrpledge, condition, equitable interest, ligat(gory or other),
option, security interest, mortgage, easementoactiment, right of way, right of first refusal, restriction of any kind, including any
restriction on use, voting, transfer, receipt afome or exercise of any other attribute of owngrshi

“ Equity Securitie§ means any Shares now or hereafter owned or hel@NA, or any securities evidencing an ownershipriest in
Oceanica, or any securities convertible into oresable for any shares of the foregoing.

“ Odyssey means Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc., a Nevemt@oration and the ultimate parent of Enterprises.

“ Person” means a natural person, company, governmentpldigal subdivision, agency, or instrumentalityasfjovernment,

partnership, limited partnership, syndicate, oeotjroup for the purpose of acquiring, holdingdimposing of securities of an issuer, except

that such term shall not include (a) Odyssey ordafris subsidiaries; (b) a trustee or other fidgiholding securities under an employee

benefit plan of Odyssey or any of its “affiliategiyat is, a person that directly, or indirectlyahgh one or more intermediaries, controls, or is

controlled by, or is under common control with, @slgy; (c) an underwriter temporarily holding setesipursuant to an offering of such
securities; or (d) a corporation owned, directlyratirectly, by the stockholders of Odyssey in sabgally the same proportions as their
ownership of stock of Odyssey.

“ Transfer” means and includes any sale, assignment, encunehitayymothecation, pledge, conveyance in trust, gihsfer by beques
devise or descent, or other transfer or dispositicemy kind, including, but not limited to, traes$ pursuant to divorce or legal separation,
transfers to receivers, levying creditors, truste®ceivers in bankruptcy proceedings or geressignees for the benefit of creditors,
whether voluntary, involuntarily or by operationlatv, directly or indirectly. As it applies to
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Equity Securities, the term “Transfer” also meamnd icludes any merger, reorganization, recapé#bn, or other transaction that has the
effect of a sale, assignment, transfer or othgradigion of Equity Securities by DNA.

Article 2
Purchase and Sale of Shares

Section 2.1. Purchase and Sal8ubject to the terms and conditions set forth neiaithe Closing (as defined below), DNA shall sel
Enterprises, and Enterprises shall purchase fromA,[de million Shares (the_* Purchased Shdyetee and clear of all Encumbrances, for
the consideration specified in Section 2.2.

Section 2.2. Purchase Pricélhe aggregate purchase price for the Purchase@$thall be U.S. $1,250,000 (the “ Purchase Pyice
Section 2.3. Transactions to be Effected at the Glimg. At the Closing (as defined below):

(a) Enterprises shall deliver to DNA the PurchaseeHn cash by wire transfer or other immediathpilable funds to the account
previously designated by DNA; and

(b) DNA shall deliver to Enterprises one or mordifieates evidencing the Shares, free and clealldEncumbrances, duly endorsed in
blank or accompanied by stock powers or otherunsénts of transfer duly executed in blank.

Section 2.4. ClosingSubject to the terms and conditions of this Agreatyie purchase and sale of the Purchased Stsaesig
consummated (the_* Closiriy remotely by mail, e-mail and/or wire transfer and as of the Effective Date. The transfers aflidetées
described in Section 2.4 shall be mutually inteeshefent and shall be regarded as occurring simuteshg and, any other provision of this
Agreement notwithstanding, no such transfer oveeji shall become effective or shall be deemedat@®ioccurred until all of the other
transfers and deliveries provided for in Sectidhshall also have occurred.

Article 3
Option to Purchase
Additional Shares

Section 3.1. Grant of Option.Subject to the terms and conditions set forth nel@NA hereby grants to Enterprises the right apiibn
(the “ Option”) to purchase from DNA up to one million of theaBas held by DNA (the * Option Shar§sat a purchase price per Option
Share equal to Two and 50/100 United States Do(lauS. $2.50), subject to adjustment as providedihdthe “ Exercise Pric§. This
Agreement shall impose no obligation upon Entegsri® exercise the Option, and the Option granéedih shall be irrevocable until the
Expiration Date (as defined below). The option ¢gdrherein shall be nontransferable and nondetéehab

Section 3.2. Exercise of OptionThe Option may be exercised by Enterprises fooradiny part of the Option Shares at any time and
from time to time after the date of this Agreemand through and until 5:00 pm, Eastern Standard,ton July 1, 2014 (theExpiration Date

)

Section 3.3. Method of ExerciseSubject to the terms and conditions set forth netbie Option may be exercised from time to time by
written notice delivered by Enterprises to DNA, afhnotice shall set forth (a) the number of Op&irares to be purchased by Enterprises,
and (ii) the date on



which the closing (the * Option Closiriyof the purchase and sale of such Option Shdrall take place, provided that the date of the @pti
Closing shall be a Business Day that is no less thigee (3) Business Days after delivery of suditeand no later than five (5) Business
Days after delivery of such notice. The term “ Biegsis Day means any day except a Saturday, Sunday, or ddteron which banking
institutions located in the State of Florida aréhatized by law to be closed. At each Option ClgsiDNA shall deliver (or cause to be
delivered) to Enterprises certificates represeritirggOption Shares being purchased at such Optmsing against payment of the aggregate
Exercise Price in cash by wire transfer or othenediately available funds to an account designbyeldNA at least twenty four (24) hours
prior to the Option Closing.

Section 3.4. AdjustmentsThe Exercise Price and number of Option Shareslagtbe purchased pursuant to this Agreement bball
subject to adjustment from time to time as follows:

(a) Subdivision or Combination In the event Oceanica shall at any time changa,valsole, by subdivision or combination in any
manner or by the making of a dividend of Shares niimber of Shares then outstanding into a diffevamber of Shares, then thereafter the
number of Option Shares which Enterprises shaditiitled to purchase pursuant to this Article 3ldbaincreased or decreased, as the case
may be, in direct proportion to the increase orelase in the number of outstanding Shares by reafssuch change, and the Exercise Price
after such change shall, in the event of an iner@aghe number of units outstanding, be propodiely reduced, and, in the event of a
decrease in the number of units outstanding, bpagptionately increased.

(b) Reclassifications, Consolidations, or Mergets.the event of any reclassification or changewtstanding Shares (other than as
provided for in Section 3.4), or in the event of @onsolidation of Oceanica with, or merger of Qtea into, another entity, Enterprises shall
thereafter be entitled to purchase, by exercigaeDption, the kind and amount of securities amperty receivable upon such
reclassification, change, consolidation, or megehe number of Option Shares which this ArticlerRitles Enterprises to purchase
immediately prior to such reclassification, changmsolidation, or merger.

(c) Other Eventslf any event occurs of the type contemplated bypttorisions of this Section 3.4 but not expresstyjaed for by
such provisions, then DNA will in good faith make appropriate adjustment in the Exercise Pricetheaciumber of Option Shares so as to
protect the rights of Enterprises hereunder.

Section 3.5. Limitation on Exercise of OptionThe Option and the rights of Enterprises providethis Article 3 shall terminate, and
be of no further force or effect, if a Change im@ol has occurred.

Article 4
Right of First Refusal and Proxy Appointment

(a) Transfer Notice.If at any time DNA proposes to Transfer any of Restricted Equity Securities, other than as pravideSection 4
(f), then DNA shall promptly give Enterprises weitt notice of DNA'’s intention to make the Transfilve(“ Equity Transfer Notic®. The
Equity Transfer Notice shall include (a) a desaniptof the Equity Securities to be transferred {fe@ed Share$), (b) the name(s) and
address(es) of the prospective transferee(s) gridlg@consideration and (d) the material termsamdlitions upon which the proposed
Transfer is to be made. The Equity Transfer Naticall certify that DNA has received a firm offeorin the prospective transferee(s) and in
good faith believes a binding agreement for then3ier is obtainable on the terms set forth in thaify Transfer Notice. The Equity Transfer
Notice shall also include a copy of any writtengwsal, term sheet or letter of intent
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other agreement relating to the proposed Trankfehe event that the transfer is being made putsioathe provisions of Section 4(d), the
Equity Transfer Notice shall state that the Trangfdeing made pursuant to such Section.

(b) Enterprises’ Right of First RefusalEnterprises shall have an option for a period wfytt{30) days from delivery of the Equity
Transfer Notice to elect to purchase the Offerear&hat the same price and subject to the sameiahédems and conditions as described in
the Equity Transfer Notice. Enterprises may exersisch purchase option and purchase all or anjopart the Offered Shares by notifying
DNA in writing before expiration of such thirty (B@ay period as to the number of such sharestthashes to purchase. If Enterprises gives
DNA notice that it desires to purchase such shahnes, payment for the Offered Shares shall be leglclor wire transfer, against delivery of
the Offered Shares to be purchased at a placedagpes between the parties and at the time ofc¢hedsiled closing therefor, which shall be
no later than sixty (60) days after delivery todtptises of the Equity Transfer Notice, unlessEhjaity Transfer Notice contemplated a later
closing with the prospective third-party transfésg@r unless the value of the purchase price bagat been established pursuant to Section

(c).

(c) Payment.Should the purchase price specified in the Equign$fer Notice be payable in property other thathaa evidences of
indebtedness, Enterprises shall have the righayatipe purchase price in the form of cash equahipunt to the fair market value of such
property. If DNA and Enterprises cannot agree arhstash value within ten (10) days after deliver§nterprises of the Equity Transfer
Notice, the valuation shall be made by an appraitezcognized standing selected by DNA and Enisepror, if they cannot agree on
appraiser within twenty (20) days after deliveryEiaterprises of the Equity Transfer Notice, eadlstelect an appraiser of recognized
standing and those appraisers shall designatedaahpraiser of recognized standing, whose apprstisdl be determinative of such value.
The cost of such appraisal shall be shared eqbglNA and Enterprises. If the time for the closofgenterprises purchase has expired but
the determination of the value of the purchaseegpoitered by the prospective transferee(s) haseen finalized, then such closing shall be
held on or prior to the fifth business day aftestsumaluation shall have been made pursuant tdSthision 3(c).

(d) Limitation on Right of First RefusalNotwithstanding the provisions of Section 3(b), tinst refusal rights of Enterprises provided
in this Article 4:

() shall only apply to the Restricted Equity Secusitiexcluding the Purchased Shares and the OptiareShor the equivale
number of other Equity Securities derived thereftbat DNA proposes to Transfer; a

(i)  shall terminate, and be of no further force or effafter a Change in Control has occur

(e) Non-Exercise of RightsTo the extent that Enterprises has not exercisetgints to purchase the Offered Shares withirtithe
periods specified in this Article 4, DNA shall haageriod of ninety (90) days from the expiratidrsach rights in which to sell the Offered
Shares, upon terms and conditions (including threl@ase price) no more favorable than those spdadifi¢he Equity Transfer Notice, to the
third-party transferee(s) identified in the Equitsansfer Notice. The third-party transferee(s) lshedjuire the Offered Shares free and clear of
subsequent rights of first refusal under this Agrest. In the event DNA does not consummate thewadésposition of the Offered Shares
within the ninety (90)-day period from the expicatiof these rights, Enterprises’ first refusal tiggshall continue to be applicable to any
subsequent disposition of the Offered Shares by DN®# such right lapses in accordance with thenteof this Agreement. Furthermore, the
exercise or nomxercise of the rights of Enterprises under thische 4 to purchase Equity Securities from DNA $hakt adversely affect the
rights to make subsequent purchases from DNA.



(f) Permitted Transfers DNA may transfer any or all of the Restricted Eyg$ecurities to a related corporate entity preddhat such
transfer does not affect the voting rights assigodenterprise and that said entity enters intagmeement with Enterprises irrevocably
constitution and appointing Enterprises as itsratig-in-fact and proxy, under the same terms amtehngset forth in Section 4(g).

(9) Appointment of ProxyDNA hereby irrevocably constitutes and appointsEmises as its attorney-faet and proxy, with full powe
of substitution and resubstitution, to cause tin@kon of the Shares (excluding the Purchased &hand the Option Shares) or the equiv:
number of other Equity Securities derived therefioetd by DNA, the Restricted Equity Shares, to bented as present at any meeting of the
holders of Equity Securities of Oceanica and t@\tbe Restricted Equity Shares at any such medtogever called, and to execute consents
in respect of the Restricted Equity Shares as autiokt extent determined by Enterprises in its aakt absolute discretion. THIS PROXY Al
POWER OF ATTORNEY IS IRREVOCABLE AND COUPLED WITHMINTEREST. DNA hereby revokes all other proxiesl aowers o
attorney with respect to the Restricted Equity 8kdhat it may have heretofore appointed or gratmted no subsequent proxy or power of
attorney shall be granted. Notwithstanding any igion of this Agreement to the contrary, this prad power of attorney shall terminate,
and be of no further force or effect, after a ClemimgControl of Odyssey has occurred.

Article 5
Miscellaneous

Section 5.1. Legenddf requested by Enterprises, DNA shall cause aridde be placed on any certificate evidencing BgB#curities
held by DNA stating that the Equity Securities eamted by such certificate are held subject toAgreement.

Section 5.2. Certain Rules of ConstructionAny term defined herein in the singular form stiel/e a comparable meaning when used
in the plural form, and vice versa. When used nei@) the words “hereof,” “herein,” and “hereuridand words of similar import shall refer
to this Agreement as a whole and not to any pdatiqurovision of this Agreement and (b) the terimgtude,” “includes,” and “including” are
not limiting. All words used in this Agreement dha¢ construed to be of such gender or numbereasitbumstances require. Unless the
context requires otherwise, derivative forms of taryn defined herein shall have a comparable meganithat of such term. The headings in
this Agreement are for convenience of referencg,arid shall not be deemed to alter or affect anyipion of this Agreement. References to
the Articles or Sections shall refer respectivelyhe articles or sections of this Agreement, uteherwise expressly provided.

Section 5.3. Entire AgreementThis Agreement supersedes all prior agreementsthehwritten or oral, between the Parties with
respect to its subject matter and constitutes ¢pbaith the Schedules, Exhibits and other documeelisered pursuant to this Agreement) a
complete and exclusive statement of the termsetireement between the parties with respect sulffect matter. This Agreement may not
be amended, supplemented, or otherwise modifiedxry a written agreement executed by all of thei€s.

Section 5.4. Successors; Assignmeifthis Agreement and all of the provisions hereofldl@binding upon and inure to the benefit of
the Parties and their respective successors antitpe transferees and assignees. Neither thisekgeat nor any interest herein may directly
or indirectly be transferred or assigned by anyyRar whole or in part, without the written conseiithe other Partyprovided, howevethat
Enterprises may effect any such assignment to fifigte of Odyssey, but any such assignment shatlrelieve Enterprises of its duties and
obligations contained in this Agreement.



Section 5.5. NoticesAll notices, requests, demands, and other commtioitato be delivered hereunder shall be in writmg shall be
delivered by hand, by facsimile (receipt confirmdm) express mail or courier service, or by registeor certified mail, postage prepaid, at or
to the following addresses:

(@) Ifto DNA, to:

Torre ADR
Piso 7, 7-A Avenida Samuel Lewis
Panama City, Republic of Panama

(b)  If to Enterprises, tc

c/o Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc.
5215 West Laurel Street

Suite 210

Tampa, Florida 33607

Attention: General Counsel

with a copy, which shall not constitute notice, to:

Akerman Senterfitt

401 East Jackson Street
Suite 1700

Tampa, Florida 33602
Attention: David M. Doney

or to such other address or to such other PersanyaRarty shall have last designated by writteicado the other Parties. Notices, requests,
demands, and other communications so delivered lshaleemed given upon receipt.

Section 5.6. Waiver; Remedies Cumulativdf any Party expressly waives in writing an undais condition, representation, warranty,
undertaking, covenant or agreement (or portioneib@rset forth herein, the waiving Party shall &adter be barred from recovering, and
thereafter shall not seek to recover, any damagims, losses, Liabilities or expenses, includegal and other expenses, from the other
Parties in respect of the matter or matters so&dhiZxcept as expressly stated therein, any susfemnghall not constitute a covenant to
waive any such matter or matters in the future. figfiets and remedies of the Parties under this &gent are cumulative and not alternative.

Section 5.7. Severabilitylf any term or provision of this Agreement or amppBcation thereof shall be invalid or unenforceslthe
remainder of this Agreement and any other apptcatif such term or provision shall not be affedtezteby.

Section 5.8. No Third-Party Beneficiary.This Agreement is for the benefit of, and may bexed only by, DNA and Enterprises, and
their respective successors and permitted traresfened assignees, and is not for the benefit dfpaay not be enforced by, any third party.
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Section 5.9. Governing Law; VenueThis Agreement and the rights and obligations efffarties set forth herein shall be governed by,
construed and interpreted in accordance with tivs af the Republic of the Bahamas. Each Party agtest all legal proceedings concerning
the interpretation, enforcement and defense ofAgiement or the transactions contemplated byAgieement shall be commenced
exclusively in the Republic of the Bahamas. EaattyHeereby irrevocably submits to the exclusivagdiction of the Republic of the Bahan
for the adjudication of any dispute hereunder azdnnection herewith and hereby irrevocably waie@s] agrees not to assert in any suit,
action or proceeding, any claim that it is not peedly subject to the jurisdiction of any such dothiat such suit, action or proceeding is
improper or is an inconvenient venue for such pedo®g. In any action brought under this Agreemégrd,prevailing Party shall be entitled to
recover its actual costs and attorneys’ fees drattadr litigation costs, including expert witndegs, and all actual attorneys’ fees and costs
incurred in connection with the enforcement of dgjment or order arising from any action or procegdi

Section 5.10. Counterparts; Facsimile Signature3.his Agreement may be executed in one or more eopatts, each of which will |
deemed to be an original copy of this Agreementalhaf which, when taken together, will be deen@donstitute one and the same
agreement. The exchange of copies of this Agreearhbf signature pages by facsimile or electrtnaicsmission shall constitute effective
execution and delivery of this Agreement as tophaies and may be used in lieu of the originale®sgnent for all purposes. Signatures of the
parties transmitted by facsimile or electronic sraission shall be deemed to be their original igea for all purposes.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have causethis Agreement to be executed as of the date firatritten above by their
respective officers thereunto duly authorized.

DNAL 1D.

By:
Name
Title:

O DYSSEYM ARINE E NTERPRISES, L TD .

By:
Name
Title:




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

I, Gregory P. Stemm, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form@0f Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or emnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoiige designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financgdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thesegnt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@gniifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2013

/sl Gregory P. Stemi
Gregory P. Stemr
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002

[, Michael J. Holmes, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Form@0f Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or emnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirg @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedioitge designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to thgistrant, including its consolidated subsidigrie made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whidtis report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financggarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegsegnt's internal control over financial reportitigit occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alndave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@gniifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 201

/s/ Michael J. Holme
Michael J. Holme:
Chief Financial Office




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

| hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledtpe quarterly report on Form 1D-of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. for the pdranding
June 30, 2013:

(1) complies with the requirements of Section 1®§a)5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 193¢ a

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material aspects, the financiab@dmn and results of operations of Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc.

/s/ Gregory P. Stemi
Gregory P. Stemr
Chief Executive Office
August 8, 201

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 been provided to Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and will be retained byy@dey Marine Exploration, Inc. and furnished to 8®eurities and Exchange Commission

upon request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
ODYSSEY MARINE EXPLORATION, INC.
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

| hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledt quarterly report on Form ID-of Odyssey Marine Exploration, Inc. for the pdrandin¢
June 30, 2013:

(1) complies with the requirements of Section 1®§a)5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 193¢ a

(2) the information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material aspects, the financiabidmn and results of operations of Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc.

/s/ Michael J. Holme
Michael J. Holme:
Chief Financial Office
August 8, 201

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20882 been provided to Odyssey
Marine Exploration, Inc. and will be retained byy3dey Marine Exploration, Inc. and furnished to $feeurities and Exchange Commission

upon reques’




